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To be accepted as 
the preferred financial institution

by our members and 
the community.

To improve the well-being of our members 
by promoting savings, affordable credit 
and innovative products through quality 
service built on financial stability and 

mutual trust.

VISION

MISSION
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NOTICE
The 39th Annual General Meeting of COK Co-operative Credit Union Limited will be held on Saturday,  May 6th, 
2006, at the Hilton Kingston Hotel, 77 Knutsford Boulevard, Kingston 5, New Kingston, commencing at 10:00 
a.m.

Michael Martin
Secretary
April 6, 2006

AGENDA
  1.  Ascertainment of Quorum

  2.  Call to Order

  3.  Opening Prayer

  4.  Obituary

  5.  Apologies for Absence

  6.  Welcome and Introduction

  7.  Keynote Speaker - Dr. The Hon. Omar Davies, Minister of Finance and Planning

  8.  Adoption and Confirmation of Minutes
         -  Matters Arising
  9.  REPORTS
       a. Board of Directors .....................................................................................5  
       b.  Management ........................................................................................... 10  
       c.   Treasurer  ............................................................................................... 29
       d.   Auditors .................................................................................................. 39 
       e.   Credit Committee  ...................................................................................72
       f.   Supervisory Committee ...........................................................................76
       g.   Delegates to the Jamaica Co-operative Credit Union League

10.  Fixing of Maximum Liability .............................................................................33

11.   Proposal for Appropriation of Net Surplus  .......................................................36

12.   Presentation of Budget 

13.   ELECTIONS
       (a)   Appointment of Returning Officer
       (b)  Nominating Committee’s Report 
       (c) Election of:
               i. Board of Directors 
              ii. Credit Committee
              iii.   Supervisory Committee 
              iv. Jamaica Co-operative Credit Union League Ltd. (Delegates) 
               v. Jamaica Fishermen’s Co-op Union Ltd. (Delegates)

14.  Any other Business

15.  Termination
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CORPORATE PROFILE

COK Co-operative Credit Union Ltd. (COK) is a 
versatile financial institution. While maintaining the 
core values which inspired our beginning in 1967, 

we have evolved to become a dynamic wealth-creation 
facilitator, providing a variety of services to members who 
want to achieve personal or business related financial 
goals.

COK has a multi-billion dollar portfolio of more than J$3.9 
billion in savings and J$4.8 billion in assets on behalf of 
over 182,000 members. This makes us the largest credit 
union among the 47 credit unions in Jamaica and the 
316 in the Caribbean. Our bond allows us to serve those 
who live or work in the city of Kingston and their families 
wherever they may live. 

We work hard to fulfill our mission, which is, “to improve 
the well being of our members by promoting savings, 
affordable credit and innovative products through quality 
service, built on financial stability and mutual trust.”

Structure
COK is run by a team of highly experienced managers, 
but the real power is in the hands of the members, who, at 
Annual General Meetings, elect the Board of Directors and 
Committees and make and influence decisions concerning 
the operations of their credit union. 

Our dedicated members, volunteers and loyal staff continue 
to make COK a strong force in the financial marketplace. 
Together, they made it possible to let “your financial 
dreams to come alive in 2005”.

Products and Services
We continually design new products and services in 
response to our members’ needs. The array of products 
caters to different market segments including children, 
youth, middle-aged persons and pensioners with our:

INVESTMENTS
 • Shares 
 • Fixed Deposits
 • Golden Egg Deposit
 • Golden Harvest Savings
 • Wealth Maximizer
 • Partner Plan
 • C.A.R.E.S Accounts (Children are Really    
  Enthusiastic Savers
 • COK Retirement Scheme

INSURANCE
 • Family Indemnity Plan 
 • Blue Cross Health Insurance

LOANS
 • Ratio Loans (members can borrow up to 25 times 
  their shares)
 • Share Building
 • Motor vehicle 
 • Business
 • Personal
 • Home Improvement
 • Education

OTHER SERVICES
 • COK Xchange (Cambio)
 • COK Remittance Services
 • COK Visa Credit Card
 • COK Easi Access Plus ATM Card
 • Standing Order Payments
 • COK Legal Services

COK provides some of these services via a vibrant network 
of alliances with Jamaican and overseas businesses.

Locations
COK operates from four locations:  Half Way Tree - 8 
Hope Road; Crossroads - Head Office at 66 Slipe Road, 
Portmore - Shop #3 McMaster Centre and Montego 
Bay - 40 Market Street. Our contact numbers are 1-888-
CALL COK (1-888-225-5265) and 960-I CAN (960-4226). 
Our website can be accessed at www.cokcu.com. COK 
continues to expand, and is in the process of building new 
headquarters at 66 – 70 Slipe Road in Kingston. 

Corporate Social Responsibility
Our members respond enthusiastically in support of 
organizations which work in the areas of education, HIV/
AIDS and entrepreneurship development. Each year, our 
members approve a special “Outreach” budget from which 
grants are disbursed. Through the COK HIV/AIDS fund, we 
have committed to giving two million dollars over four years 
(starting 2004) to charities on the front line of HIV/AIDS 
prevention. The 2005 recipients of grants of $200,000 each 
were the Jamaica Aids Support for their Life’s Work project 
in Montego Bay and The University of the West Indies HIV/
AIDS Response Programme (UWIHARP). Members of the 
public are invited to give generously to the HIV/AIDS fund 
at account number 4379489.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ REPORT
TO THE 39TH ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

Fellow Co-operators:

It is with a great sense of pride that your Board of 
Directors report that the year ended December 31, 2005 
was another successful year of operation.

Two thousand and five was a difficult year for our national 
economy. Jamaica was affected by the impacts of an 
active hurricane season, continued high levels of crime, 
unstable oil prices and increased inflation. There was 
also much ferment in the financial services sector which 
resulted in intense competition among the players. Despite 
this challenging business environment, COK managed 
to grow by expanding its business activities, improving 
its service delivery and realizing a net surplus of $139.5 
million.

PERFORMANCE
At the end of the year, COK recorded a Membership of 
182,332, Savings of $3.9 billion, Loans of $3.6 billion and 
Assets of $4.8 billion.  These numbers represent growth 
over 2004 of 9% for membership, 16% for savings, 39% 
for loans, and 23% for assets. This performance compares 
favourably with the National Movement growth of 7%, 
13%, 23% and 14% for membership, savings, loans and 
assets respectively.

MEMBER SERVICES 
IMPROVEMENTS
In our report to the last Annual General Meeting, we 
reaffirmed our policy commitment to maintaining a highly 
efficient level of service to members in a convenient, 
modern, electronically driven business environment. We 
also reported that in response to the feedback from member 
surveys, the Board had approved the establishment of a 
branch in Montego Bay and the upgrading of the member 
service facilities at the Slipe Road, Head Office Complex.

We are pleased to report that the Montego Bay Branch 
was opened in June 2005, and that, despite delays 
caused by late approval of the plans by the KSAC, work 
is progressing speedily on the new Branch Service Centre 
at Slipe Road with completion date scheduled for July 
2006. We are also pleased with the ongoing expansion in 
the placement of Automatic Banking Machines at strategic 
locations for the convenience of members.

Business is progressing smoothly at the Montego Bay 
Branch and members in that area have been expressing 
appreciation for the convenience afforded by the branch.  

Please continue to provide us with your feedback as your 
views will be factored into plans for improving COK’s 
services. The management report provides additional 
information on matters relating to this year’s operation.

SAFETY & SOUNDNESS 

MANAGEMENT
The safety and soundness of the organization continued 
to be of utmost priority to the Directors, and all critical 
decisions were subjected to rigorous prudential tests.  In 
addition to regular monthly Board meetings, the activities 
of the organization are also scrutinized and strengthened 
by three Board Appointed Committees, namely  the 
Audit, Marketing and Finance & Policy committees.  The 
effectiveness of this closer prudential management has 
manifested itself in the following areas:
• Improvement in the quality and timeliness of the 

financial reports thus satisfying the criteria set by the 
regulatory bodies.

• Containment of loan delinquencies within 
internationally recommended levels.

• Recovery of $25.8 million from loans which have 
been charged off. 

• General improvements in the efficiency and profitability 
of the operation. 

CHARGED-OFF LOANS
The PEARLS Prudential Standards require that loans 
which are delinquent for 12 months and over be removed 
from the active loans ledger.  In accordance with that 
standard we present loan balances totaling $35.1 million 
which at December 31, 2005 qualified for such treatment 
and recommend the approval of this meeting for them to 
be charged off. 

As is customary, the list of these loans can be inspected at 
the staff desk at this AGM or at our head office.

DISTRIBUTABLE SURPLUS
Like most credit unions, COK is faced with the challenge 
of establishing a net surplus distribution formula which 
simultaneously addresses the competing demands of 
the safety and soundness standards as well as members’ 
desire for favourable returns on investment in the form of 
dividends.  This challenge arises from the fact that most 
credit unions have been experiencing significant annual 
growth in their assets while the capital adequacy standards 
prescribe a value relationship between assets and 
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undistributed reserves, which must be built up from surplus 
before distribution of dividend.  After this alignment of the 
reserve there is in most cases, a disproportionate amount 
of surplus remaining for dividend.  This is an issue about 
which your Board has been deliberating.  In an effort to 
mitigate this impact on distributable surplus to members 
over time, your Board has been examining ways and 
means of increasing the pool of net surplus generally, but 
with special emphasis on increasing COK’s earnings from 
its non-loan portfolio.

For the year ended December 31, 2005 the organization 
realized a net surplus of $139.5 million which is 13% over 
last year.  After safety and soundness considerations and 
consultations with the Registrar of Co-operatives, your 
Directors recommend a distribution of $34.4 million to 
members as dividend for 2005. 

RESPONSE TO GLOBAL 
CHANGES

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
The rapid changes which have been taking place in the 
global marketplace are demanding that we conform to 
internationally accepted businesses practices in order to 
remain viable. In this regard, credit unions are faced with 
the problem of having their audited accounts qualified, 
because their traditional treatment of members’ shares 
as capital in the balance sheet is not acceptable by the 
International Financial Reporting Standards. To satisfy 
this internationally recognized standard, members’ shares 
must be treated as a liability in the balance sheet. This 
poses a serious challenge for the Credit Union Movement, 
but conformity is desired by the Regulating Authorities.

Your Board is studying the implications of this adaptation 
in concert with the whole issue of capital adequacy and 
permanent shares. As soon as this study is complete, a 
proposal will be placed before the general membership 
for consideration.

STRATEGIC ALLIANCES
Forging strategic alliances between similar types of 
businesses is another business practice which has taken 
on new life in recent times.  Whereas in the past this was 
somewhat prohibited, recent studies have revealed that 
such alliances can be mutually beneficial to partners, 
especially as it relates to joint research, sharing of best 
operating practices, cost reduction and facilitation of cross 
regional transactions. For these reasons, COK, in 2005 
established an alliance with the City of Bridgetown Co-

operative Credit Union of Barbados. This follows a similar 
agreement which was made with Eastern Credit Union of 
Trinidad in 2004.  The alliances have been proceeding in 
accordance with expectation and all parties are excited 
about the future possibilities.

HUMAN RESOURCES

STAFF
During the year, Mr. Leroy Reynolds, Deputy General 
Manager – Operations, resigned to pursue higher studies 
abroad.  In the interim, his duties are being carried out by 
the General Manager and the Deputy General Manager 
– Finance and Investment. On behalf of the members, the 
Board wishes to record appreciation to Mr. Reynolds for 
the long and dedicated service offered and wish him all the 
best in his future endeavors.

COK embarked on an intensive training programme 
to embed in each employee, a high level of skill and 
credit union knowledge. In order to accommodate 
training exercises, branches were closed at mid-day every 
Wednesday between February and July 2005. After this 
intensive period, training exercises have continued each 
Wednesday, but on a smaller scale.

DIRECTORS
During the year Mr. Hugh Jones resigned from the Board 
of Directors and Mrs. Debbie-Ann Gordon Crawford was 
appointed by the Board to fill the vacancy.  Appendix 
1 (page 7) provides the Attendance Report of Directors 
Meetings.  Your Directors attended joint committee 
meetings and subcommittee meetings in keeping with the 
governance of the affairs of the organization.

Your Directors also participated in national, regional 
and international conventions and consultations toward 
strengthening the credit union movement.  Of note, your 
President was, on October 21, 2005, awarded the national 
honour of Order of Distinction for service to the Credit 
Union Movement.  On your behalf, your Directors wish to 
record congratulations to Mr. Joscelyn Jolly on his receipt 
of this national honour.

FUTURE DIRECTION
The imperative for our continuing growth and development 
has to be innovation and stability.  Our efforts must of 
necessity encompass the following:-
 a. Increased use of COK’s services by members 
 b. Increased efficiency
 c. Continuous cost containment



7

d. Compliance with high prudential standards  
e. Alliances, locally and regionally, to facilitate 

additional quality service to our demanding 
members

f. Maintaining our COK Brand in the marketplace 
and community activities

APPENDIX  I

Attendance at Directors’ Meetings
January to December 2005

Names Position Scheduled
Meetings

Meetings
Attended

Meetings
Excused

Joscelyn Jolly President 12 10 2

Albert Morris Vice President 12 10 2

Jacqueline Mighty Treasurer 12 12 -

Carol Anglin Asst. Treasurer 12 10 2

Michael Martin Secretary 12 12 -

Karen Adair Asst. Secretary 12 10 2

Christopher Robinson Director 12 9 3

Dr Karen Asher Osbourne Director 12 10 2

*Hugh Jones Director 9 8 -

*Debbie-Ann Gordon Crawford Director 2 1 1

* Mr. Hugh Jones demitted office August 2005.

* Mrs. Debbie-Ann Gordon Crawford joined the Board in November 2005 
   (subsequent to Mr. Jones’ departure).

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
We place on record our sincere appreciation to the 
Volunteers, Staff and other Stakeholders, who again have 
underscored their commitment by joining with us to move 
COK forward and upward.  To you the members, we 
thank you for the confidence you continue to bestow on 
us in the governance of our beloved COK Co-operative 
Credit Union.

Joscelyn J. Jolly
President
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Standing (L-R): Dr. Karen Asher Osbourne, Christopher Robinson, Jacqueline Mighty (Treasurer), 
Joscelyn Jolly (President & Chairman), Karen Adair (Assistant Secretary), Albert Morris (Vice 
President)
Seated (L-R): Debbie-Ann Gordon Crawford, Michael Martin (Secretary), Carol Anglin (Assistant 
Treasurer).
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APPENDIX  II

PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS PEARLS 2005 2004

  31/12/2005 31/12/2004

PROTECTION  

Allow for Loan Loss/Delinquency > 12 mths 100 100 100

Allow for Loan Loss/Delinquency 6-12 mths 60 60 60

Allow for Loan Loss/Delinquency 3-6 mths 30 30 30

Allow for Loan Loss/Delinquency 2-3 mths 10 10 10

EFFECTIVE FINANCIAL STRUCTURE   

Net Loans / Total Assets 60 - 80 76 67

Liquid Assets / Total Assets max 20 12 20

Financial Investments / Total Assets max 10 3 2

Total Savings / Total Assets 70 - 80 82 86

Shares / Total Assets 10 - 20 41 44

Institutional Capital / Total Assets min 8 9 9

ASSET QUALITY   

Delinquency (>1mth) / Gross Loan Portfolio <= 5 4.8 3

Non-Earning Assets / Total Assets <= 7 10 11

RATES OF RETURN AND COSTS   

Net Loan Income / Average Net Loan mkt rate 20 19

Operating Expenses / Average Assets <= 8 10 10

Net Margin / Average Assets > 5 3 4

Loan loss provision / Average Assets cover loss 2 1

LIQUIDITY   

Liquidity reserves / Total savings deposits 10 14 23

Non earning liquid assets / Total Assets < 1 0.4 0.5

SIGNS OF GROWTH  (YTD)  

Loans (gross) 39 95 

Savings Deposits 19 37

Shares 13 23

Institutional Capital 30 9

Membership 5% 9 10

Total Assets >= inflation 23 29
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MANAGEMENT REPORT 
TO THE 39TH ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

Mrs. Brenda Cuthbert 
General Manager

Once again I am privileged and pleased on behalf of the COK Co-operative 
Credit Union Limited employees, to present a report on the activities for the 
year 2005.

As employees, we promise through our Mission Statement:

“To improve the well being of our members by promoting savings, affordable 
credit and innovative products through quality service, built on financial 
stability and mutual trust”.

Each year we are driven and motivated by a theme developed within the 
employment core.
 2004  -   More In 2004.
 2005  -   Let Your Financial Dreams Come Alive In 2005. 

Our steady growth is set out below:

          COK’S GROWTH RECORD 2002 - 2005

DESCRIPTION             2002 2003 2004 2005

Membership     
           Adults
           COK CARES

7,544
1,239

10,200
2,618

13,429
2,073

11,290
1,958

Access Plus Cards 5,363 8,029 6,980 6,835

Blue Cross Applications 187 277 178 135

Family Indemnity Plan 514 978 1,234 1,577

Golden Harvest 347 469 167 1,110

Partner Plan -- -- -- 1,891

Retirement Scheme 18 303 231 132

COK Visa Credit Card 81 131 53 48

Wealth Maximiser -- -- $310,475 $18,034,107

Fixed Deposit $686,256,067 $831,620,574 $1,180,318,576 $1,370,732,893

Golden Egg $251,517,577 $276,568,338 $340,552,992 $391,233,000

Loans Disbursed to Members $699,690,050 $949,651,454 $2,296,938,637 $2,427,118,450

         COK’S OVERALL PERFORMANCE 2002 - 2005

2002 2003 2004 (restated) 2005

Membership 158,939 151,160 166,813 182,332
Shares $1,293,600,158 $1,412,342,892 $1,736,696,245 $1,965,849,075
Gross Loans $1,250,866,746 $1,354,422,226 $2,634,400,130 $3,650,990,594
Average Shares $8,139 $9,463 $10,411 $10,787
Average Loan Size $25,083 $56,366 $84,623 $103,352
Net Surplus $6,154,530 $71,676,863 $122,914,690 $139,473,225
Assets $2,659,097,000 $3,037,747,000 $3,923,142,000 $4,841,582,400
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FINANCIAL SERVICES
In fulfillment of our mission, we offer our members a wide 
range of financial services.  Our Product Development 
Committee keeps these services and others in the 
development stage in focus to ensure that the financial 
services offered to members are of the highest standard.

1. PARTNER PLAN
This was launched in 2004.  At December 31, 2005 
the portfolio stood at $28.86 million.

There is a Partner Plan to suit all needs:

Having four options, members are able to plan their 
business around their COK Partner Plan - 16, 24, 32 
or 48 weeks. Time, value and the rewards of “extra 
hands” continue to make this an attractive product.  
Of note, this COK Partner Plan is being replicated 
within the movement.

Members in COK Partner Plan 
at 2005 December                     1,891

Value                       $28,863,000

Completed COK Partner Plans        1,060

Value             $19,474,068

2. WEALTH MAXIMISER 
This product was also launched in 2004.   It is a 
long-term savings plan with tax-free benefits if held 
for 5 years.  With a minimum deposit of $25,000 and 
addition of under $1 million per annum, the portfolio 
has grown to $18,034,107 in 2005. 

Members who save through the Wealth Maximiser 
are able to withdraw semi-annually up to 75% of the 
interest earned.

3.  COK RETIREMENT SCHEME
Developed in 1988 to be a solid investment for self- 
employed persons, owners of small businesses, and 
members between the ages 18 – 69 years.

As at December 2005 there were 838 members. 

The Pensions Act 2004 and the Pension Regulations 
have been enacted and the Financial Services 
Commission is the regulatory agency.

Highlights of the Pensions Act 2004 (Superannuation 
Funds and Retirement Schemes) Act

It is our belief that the introduction of the above Act 
will greatly stimulate the growth of the Approved 
Retirement Schemes.

We note the following points:-
• The contribution level can now go as high as   
  20% of pensionable salaries.
• There is no restriction on pensionable salary.

Given the above favourable treatment of the 
Approved Retirement Schemes, the management of 
COK believes that the following could also become a 
reality in the near future:-

• Small superannuation funds may convert to   
  Approved Retirement Schemes.
• Medium/large superannuation funds may   
  convert to Approved Retirement Schemes.
• Many self employed will now want to become   
  members of an Approved Retirement Scheme.

 
4. FIXED DEPOSIT
 Our members have the opportunity to invest with   
 COK, starting with a minimum of $5000 for 30, 90,  
 180 or 365 days at attractive and competitive rates.

Years Number of Accounts Value

2003 6,366 $  .830 billion

2004 7,546 $1.180 billion

2005 9,182    $1.370 billion   

5. STANDING ORDER PAYMENTS
 2,100 members utilize this convenient service where  
 we make regular payments  on their behalf to some  
 88 institutions.

6. CUNA PRODUCT – GOLDEN HARVEST
 COK members under 66 years may invest in this   
 savings plan, which is a regular payment toward 
 a specific financial goal.  COK insures up to
 $4 million through CUNA Mutual, at no cost to the
 members, as long as the contract is not breached. 

Golden Harvest Membership
   2003  2004  2005
New members       469    244     918
Total members          1,130 1,374  2,292

Total investment as at December 2005 $132.302 million 
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7. FAMILY INDEMNITY PLAN (FIP)
 This plan covers up to 6 family members and there   
 are 4 types of plans that may be utilized.

    Plan    Benefit Monthly Premium
             $           $
   A      80,000       384
   B   120,000       576
   C   150,000       720
   D   250,000    1,200

At December 2005, 3,401 members of COK had 
invested in the Family Indemnity Plan.

8. COK VISA CREDIT CARD 
 COK pioneered credit cards for members within the 
 movement.  At December 31, 2005, there were   
 1,607 cardholders.  This is a facility in conjunction   
 with RBTT.

9. REMITTANCE SERVICES
 We are associated with eight remittance companies, 
 and have sub agency agreements with credit unions 
 and businesses islandwide.  During 2005, 16,691   
 transfers were paid out amounting to $339.2 million,  
 of which COK earned $2.4 million in commission 
 and fees. 

10. CAMBIO - COK XCHANGE
 Our cambio service offers convenience to our   
 members who purchase and sell foreign currency.

 COK Xchange is our branded Cambio and we now 
have two foreign exchange traders.  In 2005, US$53.2 
million was traded, from which COK earned J$6.2 
million.

 Our remittance and cambio operations are regulated 
by the Bank of Jamaica.  We are licensed annually 
and audited regularly to ensure compliance with BOJ 
regulators and the Money Laundering Act.

11. COK C.A.R.E.S.
 Children Are Really Enthusiastic Savers is evidenced 

by the growth in membership and shares value.
  

                           

                          
2001 2002 2003 2004 2005

New Members 1,462 1,239 2,618 2,073 1,958

Shares 12M 25M 31.5M 42.3M 46.2M

Total Membership 12,000 12,000 14,618 15,833 18,378

Interest is paid on their savings quarterly, as well as 
dividend, when declared at year-end.  Additionally, 
incentives are given throughout the year, including 
share certificates, sponsorship and souvenirs.

The CARES Programme is being revised to ensure 
that the older children remain committed to the 
programmme up to age 18.  The Children’s AGM, 
now in its third year, has been growing from strength 
to strength.

Again, in response to the demands of young 
members and their parents/guardians, we seek to 
offer appropriate information on COK and the Credit 
Union Movement, to the various age groups, while 
providing the opportunity to network.

HUMAN RESOURCES

The Management team at COK strongly believes that 
the greatest asset is the human capital developed to 
provide  superior service to delight the members.  A skilled 
workforce that is motivated to excellence translates to 
a successful organization.  Workplace wellness reduces 
absenteeism.

We have again this year successfully charted in a positive 
direction our relationship between management and our 
unions.  Our strategic partnership with union representatives 
within COK and the union officials allow us to report the 
absence of industrial action.  Our higher performance, 
greater productivity and workplace stability, are the 
outcome of this dialogue, transparency, and confidence 
in the workforce.  We will continue along this path as it 
works, and works well.

In 2005 COK was the proud recipient of the PSOJ Job 
Creation award for opportunities created by the Montego 
Bay Branch.

In 2005, COK embarked on an ambitious training program 
on Wednesdays, from February to July.  Our offices were 
closed to the public at 1:00pm. There was no dislocation 
as we had communicated this to our members.  From 
2:00 – 5:00pm, our staff invested the time in workshop 
seminars. Our newly employed Training Coordinator 
worked to make the training meaningful and relevant. 
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MARKETING & PUBLIC RELATIONS

In 2005 we launched the “COK For Life” campaign. This 
is a long-term campaign, providing products and services 
geared to the life cycle of our members   –   youth, young 
adult, earning adult and retiree.

COK continued to enjoy strong visibility in the marketplace 
throughout 2005, due to the thrust placed on advertising, 
public relations and supported by direct marketing.  In 
order to dispel the myth that COK was only a lending 
institution, a new advertising campaign “COK for Life” 
was launched in June 2005, geared at positioning COK as 
a wealth management institution where all one’s financial 
needs can be met.  This has significantly improved our 
image and increased awareness of the organization’s 
savings products.  

During the year we participated in 80 expositions and 
mall promotions, thereby increasing our reach to potential 
members from various sectors of the society and at different 
stages in their life cycle.

One visit was made to the Cayman Islands to cross-sell  
products and services, maintain relationships, as well as to 
recruit new members.  The introduction of new visa and 
work permit requirements for Grand Cayman resulted in a 
reduction of the number of planned trips to the islands.

A total of 102 new members were recruited in the Cayman 
Islands during 2005, resulting in $1.5 million in shares.

LIAISON OFFICERS PROGRAMME

The Liaison Officers Programme remains a very important 
aspect of our Marketing and Public Relations activities.  The 
dedication and invaluable service given by the volunteers 
to COK has contributed to the success of the programme.  
These volunteers remain the vital link between COK and 
the employees of companies we serve.

Our Annual Liaison Officers Retreat was held at Sunset 
Jamaica Grande Resort on September 24 – 25, 2005.  With 
the recruitment of a significant number of new Officers, the 
focus of the retreat was to improve product knowledge and 
to help generate sales.

LIAISON OFFICER      COMPANY
1 Anderson, Dawn Torrington Basic School
2 Anglin, Yvonne Amalgamated Distributors
3 Barrett, Rosly Trinitarian Basic
4 Bartley, Marion Iris Gelley Primary
5 Beckford, Lorraine Canterbury Apparel
6 Belnavis, Sophia Compact Travel

7 Bennett, Jacinth Domino’s Pizza
8 Blomfield, Sharon West Indies Pulp & Paper
9 Bogues, Yvette Manpower Maintenance  
  (Spanish Town)
10 Bougle, Angela Sledge Security Co. Ltd.
11 Bonfield, Enid NEM Insurance Co. Ltd.
12 Brim, Paulette Naggo Head Infant
13 Brown, Vinette Antonio Knitters
14 Brown, Vivienne Illuminat
15 Brown, Winston Allman Town Skills 
  Training Centre
16 Bucknor, Doreen Cane Farmers Association
17 Burton, Norma Dry Clean USA
18 Campbell, Jacqueline Beal Industries
19 Campbell, Sophia HD Hopwood
20  Chambers, Norma Myers Fletcher and Gordon
21 Christie, Vivienne Tanners Limited
22 Clarke-Brown, Veronica Ericsson Ja. Ltd.
23 Cleghorn, Marlon Milestone Environmental
24 Cobran, Monica Hardware and Lumber
25. Wright, Frederica Amy Bailey Basic School
26 Cox, Neceita Jam Wear
27 Crosskill, Gillian Palace Amusement
28 Cunningham-Campbell, Paulette Nationwide
29 Daley, Simona LASCO Distributors
30 Davis, Claudia Premier Waste Management
31 DeLeon, Javalyn Morris Knibb Preparatory Sch.
32 Dennie, Samantha Courts, Cross Roads
33 Demercado, Yvette Jamaica Biscuit Company
34 Desnoes, Ava The Choice
35 Detry Fogah, Marcia Jessie Ripoll Primary School
36 Downie, Camilla Ecotrends
37 Ellis, Juliet Holy Trinity Basic School
38 Falknor, Oneil e-Services (Mobay)
39 Farr, Delroy Kingston Technical High School
40 Ferguson, Grace Palm Rose
41 Fisher, Rosemarie Fiscal Services Ltd.
42 Forbes, Lorraine Sherwin Williams
43 Forbes, Sean Food Ingredients
44 Francis, Carthia Steinhol Chemicals
45 Francis Nigel CAB/RJR Basic School
46 Fyffe, Claudia St. Stevens Basic
47 Gooden, Maxine Tank Weld Fabrication
48 Gordon, Janet Allied Protection
49 Gordon, Mitzie Henkel Chemicals Caribbean
50 Gordon, Sandra Les Mack Engineering
51 Grant, Matasha Gloucester Industrial
52 Grant, Nicketa MOD Office/EHC Industries
53 Green, Claudia Binoc Visions
54 Haughton, Jean Polar Works Ltd.
55 Henry, Carolyn Webster Memorial Basic Sch.
56 Henry, Sandra MAPCO Business Printers
57 Hinds, Miriam Danny Williams School 
  for the Deaf
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58 Hoilett, Cheridah MRD Inventory
59 Hudson, Jean Jebb Memorial Basic School
60 Hutchinson, Winsome Flex Pak
61 Hyde, Dorothea NACO Caribbean Ltd.
62 Isaacs, Annette Smurfs Kindergarten
63 Johnson, Nichola Joseph Holding Ltd.
64 Jones, Everald Track Price Plus
65 LaTouche, Maxine Avondale Prep
66 Lattibeaudiere, Diedre Ministry of Agriculture
67 Levy Charlene Dunn Cox
68 Lewis, Keisha Arnold Road Methodist Basic
69 Luton, Dionne Hofmann and Levy
70 Matthie, Diane Corporate Knights
71 Maxwell, Karlene Marcus Garvey Basic School
72 McCarthy, Veronica Caribbean Foods
73 McDonald, Donna Kingston Industrial Agency
74 McGregory, Maxine St. Mary’s Basic School
75 McKenzie, Esline Mustard Seed
76 McKenzie, Vida Tarrant Community Basic 
77 McKoy, Marilyn Jamaica Association for the   
  Mentally Handicapped               
78 McKoy, Janet MSJ Trading
79 McLaughlin, Deyon Marlin Transportation
80 Martin, Sandra Caribbean Fencing
81 McLeod, Diana Jamaica Cancer Society
82 McLennon, Beverley Federal Express
83 Miller, Regenta Gregory Park Basic
84 Mills, Millicent Fairway Prep
85 Mitchell, Pamella Wang Cheong Knitters
86 Morris, Marlene Manpower Maintenance 
  (Head Office)
78 Morrison, Marlene Super People Janitorial Services
82 Murray, Michelle Caribbean Cable Company
83 Myers, Marvaline Mulvina White Basic School
84 Nelson, Michael Bethel Church
85 Nevers, Barbara Probar Corporation
86 Oneil, Llewelyn Shipping Association of Ja.
87 Palmer, Nicola Tip Friendly Society
88 Palmer, Sarah Mel Nathan Preparatory School
89 Pasco, Arlene Crown Packaging
90 Patrick, Florence JUTC (Spanish Town)
91 Peart, Maxine A1 Printers
92 Pessoa, Carol Go West
93 Phillips, Natalie Sunbeam Children’s Home
94 Pinnock, Doreen Tarrant Baptist Basic School
95 Powell Bryan, Sherlene Edgewater Medical Group
96 Ralston, Rosemarie Zion Roots
97 Reid, Lois Brighton Industrial Ltd.
98 Reid, Icolyn First Missionary Basic School
99 Reid, Merlene Sandhurst Basic School
100 Reid, Simone Progressive Grocers
101 Reid, Verlyn St. Peter Claver Primary School

102 Richards, Annette VGC Holdings Ltd.
103 Richards, Mary St. Elizabeth Basic School
104 Rickards, Linda Peak Bottling Company  
105 Richardson, Orell Salvation Army School for 
  the Blind
106 Robert, Gordon Starfish Oils
107 Robinson, Shakera Positive Printing
108 Rowe, Valerie Wynter’s Auto
109 Ruddock, Jennifer  Hamilton Gardens Basic
110 Salmon, Beverley Automania
111 Samuels, Annette Payless Distributors Ltd.
112 Segree, Nicole JUTC (Rockfort)
113 Sewell Norma Jamaica Citrus Growers
114 Slowly Wilson, Sheryl Dupont Primary School
115 Small, Janet Power of Faith Ministries
116 Smith, Claudette ARH Industrial
117 Smith, Karen Newport Warehousing
118 Smith, Natalie Jamaica Cancer Society
119 Soares, Yvonne Accountant General
120 Solomon, Jennifer Gloucester Industrial
121 Stone, Glossie Lithographic Printers
122 Telfer, Pauline Berger Paints
123 Thompson, Brenda Hawkeye Security
124 Tyrell, Patricia National Irrigation Commission
125 Watson, Donna Woodcat
126 Weatherly, Ava JUTC (Lyndhurst Road)
127 Williams, Rosett Jamaica Observer
128 Williams, Shereen Electroloc
129 Williamson, Lorna Industrial Gases Ltd.
130 Wilmott, Diane Jamaica Pre-mix
131 Wint, Murepha Power & Tractor
132 Witter, Tashika e-Services (Naggo Head)
133 Wood, Annette Sunrise Nursery
134 Wray, Erica Sleep Beauty Bedding

The liaison officers’ programme has grown from 116 to 
134 active and dedicated volunteers.

COMMUNITY OUTREACH

Mindful of our corporate responsibilities, each year funds 
are approved by members at the Annual General Meeting 
for use in our community outreach programme.  At the  
2004 AGM, some $1.3 million was approved and utilized 
in the areas of health, education and community support, 
as well as spiritual upliftment.

Through the Kiwanis Club, we contributed to the building 
of a canteen facility at the Cross Roads Police station.  
The Police were also given a donation of a badly needed 
refrigerator.   At our annual Christmas Treat in December 
2005, COK in collaboration with the Cross Roads Police, 
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fed the needy street persons and entertained children who 
reside in the Cross Roads community. 

For the second year, Teachers’ Day saw members of staff 
“Going Back to School”.  We taught at Jamaica House 
Basic School as well as St. Peter Claver Primary School, 
one of our adopted schools.  We were motivated by 
the interaction among staff and members, children and 
potential members and this continued to underscore our 
promise “to improve the well being of our members”.

During Credit Union Week, COK hosted a Public Forum 
which dealt with the topic “The Role and Relevance 
of the Credit Union – Past, Present and Future”.  This 
attracted many distinguished speakers, namely; Father 
Gerald McLaughlin, Deacon Ronald Thwaites, Dr. David 
Tennant, and Mr. Christopher Samuda (President of the 
Jamaica Co-operative Credit Union League).

The COK HIV/AIDS Fund which was launched in 2004 
continued to contribute to organizations in need of 
assistance.  As part of our commitment to the fight 
against HIV/AIDS, COK made a donation of $400,000 
to UWIHARP and Jamaica Aids Support in December 
2005.

MANAGEMENT INFORMATION 

SYSTEMS 
The Management Information Systems Department 
continues to implement the appropriate technology that 
will increase efficiency and productivity to allow the 
members to conduct their business quickly.  We encourage 
our members to visit our website at www.cokcu.com to 
access information on our products and services. 

RECORDS MANAGEMENT 
The growth in membership, the opening of the Montego 
Bay Branch, and increased activity by our members have 
seen a tremendous increase in the volume of documents 
generated by the organization.

The Records Department continues to implement strategies 
to ensure the control and protection of documents while 
providing an efficient and timely service to our members.

WIDENING OF NETWORK 
Our network of members throughout the island has been 
utilizing our electronic business lines.  Surveys reveal that 
a physical presence is necessary in some parts of the island 
and is being demanded by our members.  We will be 

able to utilize our bond to spread our reach to members 
throughout the island.

Our President, in the report of the Board of Directors, 
advised of our Montego Bay Branch which became 
operational in June 2005.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

1. You -  the loyal members through your business   
 with COK cause us to remain in the forefront.

2. You  - the active Liaison Officers have helped to   
 keep COK in business at your workplace.

3. You - the volunteers of COK – members of the Board, 
Supervisory Committee, Credit Committee,    
Education Committee and all other committees, have  
kept a keen and critical eye on every facet of the operation 
of COK.

4. You - the companies, statutory bodies and Government 
Departments continue to facilitate salary deductions for 
the employees to improve their well being through 
regular savings.

5. You  - the teachers and nursery school attendants have 
contributed to the growth of COK – CARES through 
promotion and administration.

6. You  - KPMG our auditors who delivered on our 
audited accounts ensuring that we were within the 
March 31 deadline.

7. You  - the professional bodies to which we are 
affiliated.

8. You  -  the co-operative network of which we are a 
part – Jamaica Co-operative Credit Union League,  the 
Registrar and Staff of the Department of Co-operatives 
and Friendly Societies and CUNA Mutual.

9. You  -  the team with the mandate to have the reports 
ready before the AGM

 – Design Studio Ltd.
 – OGM Integrated Communication Ltd.
 – MAPCO Business Printers Ltd.
 – Dentyne Limited

10. You  -  the members of staff who with diligence and 
dedication continue in the delivery of the best possible 
service to our members.
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To the individuals and the organizations, suppliers and 
supporters, regulators and observers we say a heartfelt 
thanks.

We recognize that Co-operatively the strength of our 
relationship and confidence in COK has resulted in COK 
continuing to realize its mission statement  -

 “To improve the well-being of our members 
by promoting savings, affordable credit and 
innovative products through quality service; 
built on financial stability and mutual trust”.

FOR AND ON BEHALF OF THE MANAGEMENT

Brenda Cuthbert   (Mrs)
General Manager
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PERFORMANCE HIGHLIGHTS
2001 - 2005

2001 2002 2003 2004 2005

$ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000

ASSETS      

Loans (net)    1,152,019    1,196,574    1,338,613    2,616,846  3,625,125 

Investments    1,066,278    1,224,604    1,362,654       867,960     723,537 

Fixed Assets         51,247         57,664         68,512         73,555     114,955 

Other Assets       208,202       180,255       267,968       364,781     377,965 

      

Total Assets    2,477,746    2,659,097    3,037,747    3,923,142  4,841,582 

      

SAVINGS      

Shares    1,188,805    1,293,600    1,412,343    1,736,696  1,965,849 

Savings Deposits       882,548       996,961    1,186,975    1,626,971  1,941,166 

      

Total Savings Funds    2,071,353    2,290,561    2,599,318    3,363,667  3,907,015 

      

PROFITABILITY         (restated)  

Surplus         54,865           6,155         71,677       122,915     139,473 
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PERFORMANCE HIGHLIGHTS
2001 - 2005
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Montego Bay Opening
THE YEAR IN REVIEW

Brenda Cuthbert (right), (General Manager), 
greets a member at the movie reception hosted 
in Montego Bay. Looking on are Dennis Hickey 
(Marketing & Public Relations Manager), Sonia 
Marsh (HRD & Administration Manager) and 
Roger Shippey (MSO).

Michelle Morris (left), (Deputy General 
Manager Finance and Investments), 
cuts the cake at the official opening of 
the Montego Bay branch with Janice 
Hall, first member to join.

(R-L): Dianna Leach-Patterson (Assistant 
Branch Manager, COK Montego Branch),  
Dennis Hickey (Marketing & Public 
Relations Manager), Hon. Clarence 
Nelson, Custos of St. James, Jacqueline 
Mighty (Treasurer, Board of Directors), 
engaged in a conversation at the Opening 
of the Montego Bay Branch.
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Montego Bay Opening
THE YEAR IN REVIEW

Diana Patterson (Asst. Branch 
Manager) presents a member with 
a share certificate on Opening Day 
at the new COK Montego Bay 
Branch.

Brenda Cuthbert (General 
Manager) presents a member with 
a gift certificate on Opening Day 
at the new COK Montego Bay 
Branch.
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Credit Union Day (Cross Roads)

Sonia Marsh (HRD & Administration Manager) congratulates a 
young member who gave an entertaining performance on Credit 
Union Day.

THE YEAR IN REVIEW

Two of our valued members cutting the cake on Credit 
Union Day.

Bibi Cox (Teller) entertaining members on Credit 
Union Day.

Ewan Shaw (Branch Manager, Cross Roads) welcoming 
members who shared Credit Union Day activities with us.
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Credit Union Day (Montego Bay)
THE YEAR IN REVIEW

The dance group Ashanti 
entertaining members on 
Credit Union Day.

Catherine Thomas (Acting 
Branch Manager) presents a 
gift to a member on Credit 
Union Day.
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Public Forum
THE YEAR IN REVIEW

Minister of Tourism Hon. Aloun N’dombet Assamba (centre) 
and Kenarthur Mitchell (left) enjoy a light moment with Erell 
Crooks (Chairman - Credit Committee) at the COK Public 
Forum.

General Manager of COK, Brenda Cuthbert (2nd left) in 
discussion with three of the guest speakers at the annual Public 
Forum. From left - Deacon Ronald Thwaites, Christopher 
Samuda (President of the Jamaica Co-operative Credit Union 
League) and Father Gerald McLaughlin - founding member 
of COK.

Members of the Credit Union family sharing a light moment 
at the COK Public Forum. (L-R) Dennis Hickey (Marketing 
and Public Relations Manager), Mr. Barry White (General 
Manager, C&W Employees Co-op Credit Union) and Sonia 
McFarlane (President, Churches Co-op Credit Union).

A section of the audience at the COK Public Forum (L-R) Ruel 
Reid (President - Jamaica Teacher’s Association), Joscelyn 
Jolly (President COK), Brenda Cuthbert (General Manager) 
and Michelle Morris (Deputy General Manager - Finance and 
Investments).
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Members Only 
FREE Bingo

THE YEAR IN REVIEW

Members diligently filling out their bingo 
cards at the Members Only Free Bingo.

Shaneek Carey (Member Care 
Representative) sells a member Bonanza 
Bingo cards at the Bingo party. Proceeds 
from the Bonanza Games are in aid of 
the Margaret Rodgers Foundation.

Christopher Robinson (Director) welcoming members to 
the Annual Members Only Free Bingo Party. Looking on is 
Donald “Rampuss” Hayden (Bingo Caller).
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THE YEAR IN REVIEW

Klao Lewis, (Public Relations Specialist of 
COK Co-operative Credit Union) presents 
a cheque to Sandra Passmore-Rowe, 
(local Fundraising Co-ordinator, Jamaica 
Aids Support) and Maxine Ruddock-
Small, (Project Co-ordinator,  University 
of the West Indies), HIV/AIDS Response 
Programme (UWI HARPP). Both 
organizations were the first recipients of a 
grant of $200,000 each from the COK HIV/
AIDS Fund launched last year. Members 
of the public are invited to contribute to 
the Fund AC# 4379489 at the HWT, 
Cross Roads, Portmore and Montego Bay 
branch of COK. The presentations were 
made at the World Aids Day Concert at 
Emancipation Park.

Support the COK HIV/AIDS Fund 
- Account number 4379489 

The COK HIV/AIDS Fund was launched in October 2004 with a commitment of 
$500,000 per year for four years. The fund gives priority to organizations involved 
with: work place education, income earning and skills training opportunities for peo-
ple living with HIV/AIDS. The first grants were awarded on World Aids Day, Decem-
ber 1, 2005.

Sonia Marsh, (HRD & Admin. Manager 
of COK Co-operative Credit Union) and 
singer Sanjay challenge artistes and the 
business community to actively promote 
sensitization and the development of 
an HIV/AIDS policy. COK is a part of 
a project with the International Labour 
Organisation geared at changing the 
culture and attitude of the workforce to 
HIV/ AIDS. 
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Social Outreach
THE YEAR IN REVIEW

Officers from the Cross Police Station 
accepting a donation of a refrigerator from 
Michelle Morris (Deputy General Manager 
Finance and Investments).

Brenda Cuthbert (right), (General 
Manager, COK Co-operative 
Credit Union), enjoys a lively 
discussion with (l-r)  Leonie Harris, 
(Principal Director, Corporate 
Management & Development, 
Cabinet Office), Violet Crutchley, 
(Executive Director, NDFJ School 
of Business) and Michael Wright, 
(CEO, NDFJ). Mrs. Cuthbert 
was guest Speaker at the 2005 
Graduation Ceremony of the 
Public Sector Employee Training 
Programme held at the PCJ 
Auditorium recently.
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AGM Highlights
THE YEAR IN REVIEW

Leroy Reynolds (Former Deputy General 
Manager, Operations) makes a presentation 
to Vera Thomas-Daley, the first member to 
arrive at the Annual General Meeting.

Michael Martin (Secretary - Board of 
Directors) presents Suzette Donaldson 
(Legal Clerk) with an award for 10 years 
of dedicated service to COK.

The COK choir entertaining members at 
the Annual General Meeting. (L-R) Paul 
Dennis, Wainwright Campbell, Shaneek 
Carey, Anthony Morris, Patricia Walker 
and Juliet Henry.



28

AGM Highlights
THE YEAR IN REVIEW

Children being entertained by volunteers at 
the Children’s AGM. Volunteers included 
Thalia Batchelor (daughter of the General 
Manager), Georgia Cooke (teacher at the 
St. Peter Claver Primary School and Troy 
Anderson (Puppeteer).

Members of the Credit Committee 
participating in the Annual General 
Meeting. (L-R) Erell Crooks (Chairman), 
Patrick Whittock and Carolene Lake.

A section of the large audience 
at the Annual General Meeting. 
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Fellow co-operators, 

It is my pleasure to present the Treasurer’s report on the 
financial performance of our Credit Union for the year 
ended December 31, 2005.  The year was a most 
challenging one for all in the Credit Union Movement.  
However, despite the economic and social challenges 
experienced by our members we were able to return a 
surplus, after statutory appropriations, of $81.7M. 

Loans grew by 39% over the previous year, to end the 
year with a total portfolio of $3.6B, up from $2.6B the 
previous year. We were able to maintain a delinquency 
rate below the 5% mark and ended the year at 4.8%, 
compared to 3.2% the previous year.  I hasten to assure 
you however, that we are not comfortable with this level 
of delinquency and we have asked the management to 
mobilize all their resources to ensure that the present level 
is reduced. 

At the end of the year we had total assets of $4.8B, an 
increase of 23% or $918.4M over last year. We are now 
on the brink of the $5.0B mark!

As indicated earlier, the past year was a challenging 
one. Inflation rate remained high, ending the year at 
approximately 13% compared to 14% the previous year. 
During the year we also continued to feel the effects of 
the frequent increase in oil prices which, combined with 
the effects of hurricane damage to many sectors of our 
economy, contributed to the sustained high inflation rate 
experienced last year. Our dollar continued to depreciate 
and ended the year at $64.58 to US$1, a decline of 
approximately 5% when compared to 2004. Interest 
rates on our investments remained low, ranging between 
13% and 16%. Despite these challenges however, we 
were able to return a surplus, before appropriation, of 
approximately $139.5M.

For the past two years we have had to explain to you 
that our external auditors, KPMG Peat Marwick, have 
qualified the accounts as a result of a difference in opinion 
in how we, as a Credit Union Movement generally, treat 
the withdrawable share capital. We continue to treat 
members’ shares in our accounts as capital invested 
(equity) by you our members, in the Credit Union. 
However, under international accounting standards, this 
share capital should be treated as a liability. 

REPORT OF THE TREASURER
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005

(All figures are stated in J$’000 unless otherwise stated)

The accounts for this year have again been prepared in 
the manner in which the Act requires, thus giving rise, 
once again, to the qualification by the auditors. 

OVERVIEW
The financial performance for 2005 was a fairly good 
one. We continue to monitor the critical ratios that affect 
areas of growth to ensure that our Credit Union maintains 
a strong and dominant position in the financial sector. 
We also continue, despite the economic difficulties, to 
focus our attention on containing the levels of operating 
expenses so that we can retain our position as the national 
leader in all the critical indicators of loans growth, savings 
growth and delinquency reduction.

CREDIT UNION MOVEMENT 
PERFORMANCE
For the year ended December 31, 2005, the preliminary 
performance of the Credit Union Movement revealed the 
following:

Year
2004

Year
2005

Unit
Growth

%
Growth

756,113 Membership 812,561 56,448 7

22,451,715 Savings 25,439,427 2,987,712 13

17,327,176 Loans 21,272,235 3,945,059 23

COK’S COMPARATIVE 
PERFORMANCE
In comparison to the national performance, our 
performance revealed the following:

Year
2004

Year
2005

Unit
Growth

%
Growth

166,813 Membership 182,332 15,519 9

3,363,667 Savings 3,907,015 543,348 16

2,616,846 Loans 3,625,125 1,008,279 39

3,923,142 Total Assets 4,841,582 918,440 23

We were able to return higher growth rates than that 
experienced by the Movement generally, in the areas of 
membership, savings and loans by 2, 3 and 16 percentage 
points, respectively. The preliminary information from 
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our League indicates total assets of the Movement at 
December 31, 2005 at approximately $32.56B up from 
$28.54B the previous year; a growth of 14%, compared 
with our growth of 23%.

COK’S OPERATING 
PERFORMANCE
For the year we achieved a gross margin, before operating 
expenses, of $595.9M, up from $478.9M the previous 
year, a growth of 24%. Operating expenses increased by 
28% from $355.9M to $456.4M. We were therefore 
able to achieve a net surplus, before appropriations, of 
approximately $139.5M up from $122.9M the previous 
year.

Year
2004

Year
2005

$ Change
%

Change

478,854      Gross Margin 595,886 117,032 24

355,939 Operating Expenses 456,413 100,474 28

122,915 Net Surplus 139,473 16,558 17

The net surplus represents approximately 107% of the 
budget for the year.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
It has been a pleasure for me to have served in the 
capacity of Treasurer for yet another year and to be part 
of an extremely hardworking group of volunteers. Your 
volunteers are mindful that our sole mandate and mission 
is to improve the well being of our members by promoting 
thrift, providing affordable and innovative products and 
the highest quality service while always ensuring the safety 
and soundness of the organization. 

I wish to again thank the staff for their hard work 
throughout the year in ensuring the continued success of 
the organization.  Their commitment and dedication are 
greatly appreciated.

Thanks also to our auditors, KPMG Peat Marwick, 
who for a third year with us, have conducted their audit 
in a detailed, timely and professional manner.  To the 
League and the Department of Co-operatives and Friendly 
Societies for their usual guidance and support, we say a 
sincere thank you.

Jacqueline M.  Mighty (Mrs.)
Treasurer
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2006 BUDGET
REVENUE & EXPENDITURE STATEMENT
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2006 BUDGET
BALANCE SHEET HIGHLIGHTS
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PROPOSAL FOR FIXING OF MAXIMUM LIABILITY
TO 31 DECEMBER, 2006

In keeping with Rule 70, it is proposed that Maximum Liability to 31 December, 
2006, be set at $5 billion, being 200% of Shares and Reserves, projected at $2.5 
billion.

      For and on behalf of the
      Board of Directors

      
      Jacqueline M. Mighty (Mrs.)
      Treasurer
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TREASURER’S REPORT FOR YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER, 2005
BALANCE SHEET
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TREASURER’S REPORT FOR YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER, 2005
REVENUE & EXPENDITURE STATEMENT
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PROPOSAL FOR APPROPRIATION OF SURPLUS
FOR YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER, 2005

1. Capital Adequacy
As at 31 December, 2005 total assets were $4.842 billion inclusive of pension assets of $75.639 
million.  Pension assets have been fully reserved.  The loan loss reserve and investment 
revaluation reserve have been applied to the loans and investments to compute the net assets 
value for coverage of $4.729 billion.  To maintain a 10% capital adequacy of $472.9 million will 
require an appropriation of $93.4 million as per the following:

           $
 Assets per Balance Sheet      4,841,582,390
 Less:  Pension Asset       (    75,639,000)
  Loan loss reserve      (    33,936,890)
  Investment revaluation reserve     (      2,851,846)
 Net Assets        4,729,154,654 

 10% Requirement          472,915,465
 Institutional Capital (note 18 of Balance Sheet)       379,474,188
 Additional amount required to maintain 10% adequacy        93,441,277
 
 Current Non-Institutional Capital          81,671,012

2. Future Allocation to Institutional Capital
The Board of Directors sought and received the approval of the Registrar of Co- operatives 
to have the capital adequacy requirement be 9.0% for 2005, (9.2% in 2004), which will 
allow us to make a distribution for 2005. 

3. Distribution of Surplus for year ended December 31, 2005
Based on the above, we are seeking approval to distribute surplus of $34.4 million, after provision 
for Social Outreach and Honoraria (i.e. approx 2% dividend).

       2005     2004
           $ ‘000     $ ‘000

 Net Undistributed Surplus   81,671           91,627

 Dividend on Shares 2005 = 2.0%
        (2004 = 2.1%)  34,400   26,150
 Social Outreach          621     1,289
 Honoraria          500     1,350
 Transfer to Institutional Capital   46,150     62,838l      
 Total Distribution    81,671           91,627

FOR AND ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Jacqueline M. Mighty (Mrs.)
Treasurer
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To the Registrar of Co-operative Societies 
CITY OF KINGSTON CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED 
(A Society Registered Under the Co-operative Societies Act) 

Auditors' Report

We have audited the financial statements of City of Kingston Co-operative Credit Union Limited 
(“the co-operative”) as at and for the year ended December 31, 2005, set out on pages 2 to 33, and 
have obtained all the information and explanations which we required.  The financial statements are 
the responsibility of the co-operativeʼs management.  Our responsibility is to express an opinion on 
the financial statements based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing.  Those standards 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements are free of material misstatements.  An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence 
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.  An audit also includes assessing 
the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating 
the overall presentation of the financial statements.  We believe that our audit provides a reasonable 
basis for our opinion. 

As detailed in note 17, membersʼ share capital is accounted for and presented as a part of the co-
operativeʼs capital with the return to members, being treated as dividends, paid out of undistributed 
surplus which is in accordance with industry practice and consistent with the provisions of the Co-
operative Societies Act and the rules of the co-operative.  International Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRS”) require such shares to be classified as a liability with the return to members being classified 
as interest expense charged in arriving at net surplus or deficit for the year.   

In our opinion, proper accounting records have been kept and the financial statements:  

(a) are in agreement therewith; 

(b) except for the effect of the matter set out in the immediately preceding paragraph,  

( i) have been prepared in accordance with IFRS, and 

(ii) give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the co-operative as at December 31, 
2005 and of the results of its operations, changes in equity and its cash flows for the year 
then ended; and 

(c) comply with the provisions of the Co-operative Societies Act.

 March 28, 2006
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2
CITY OF KINGSTON CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED 
 (A Society Registered Under the Co-operative Societies Act) 

Balance Sheet 
December 31, 2005
 Notes 2005 2004
   $ $ 
ASSETS 
Earning assets: 
 Loans to members 4 3,650,990,594 2,634,400,130 

 Credit card advances  12,988,674 11,991,628 
 Less allowance for loan losses 5 (     38,854,022) (     29,546,230)

    3,625,125,246 2,616,845,528 
 Liquid assets 6 557,694,135 791,065,476 
 Financial investments 7    165,842,876       76,895,043

Total earning assets    4,348,662,257 3,484,806,047

Non-earning assets: 
 Liquid assets 8 37,070,292 22,515,555 
 Other assets 9(a) 213,720,195 237,032,070  
 Employee benefit asset 21 75,639,000 62,798,000 
 Property, plant and equipment 10 114,955,491      73,555,585 
 Intangible asset 11      51,535,155      42,434,525

Total non-earning assets     492,920,133    438,335,735

TOTAL ASSETS  4,841,582,390 3,923,141,782

LIABILITIES 
Interest bearing liabilities: 
 Savings deposits 12 1,941,165,992 1,626,971,140  
 External credits 13 254,810,518 18,514,848 
 Others 14      17,492,725           588,339

 Total interest-bearing liabilities  2,213,469,235 1,646,074,327

Non-interest bearing liabilities: 
 Payables         15(a) 40,419,730 28,133,529 
 Accruals 15(b) 39,865,334 34,925,255 
 Others 16        8,406,080      11,467,525

 Total non-interest bearing liabilities       88,691,144      74,526,309

 Total liabilities  2,302,160,379 1,720,600,636
CAPITAL 
 Membersʼ share capital 17 1,965,849,075 1,736,696,245 
 Non-institutional capital    81,671,012 86,568,852*  
 Institutional capital 18 379,474,188 291,679,795* 
 Investment revaluation reserve 19(a) 2,851,846 5,871,477* 
 Loan loss reserve 19(b) 33,936,890 18,926,777 
 Pension reserve 20      75,639,000      62,798,000

 Total capital  2,539,422,011 2,202,541,146

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND CAPITAL  4,841,582,390 3,923,141,782

The financial statements on pages 40 to 71 were approved by the Board of  
Directors on March 28, 2006 and signed on its behalf by:

 Director 

 Director 

* Restated. 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 
* Restated. * Restated. 

The financial statements on pages 
Directors on March 28, 2006 and signed on its behalf by
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3
CITY OF KINGSTON CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED 
 (A Society Registered Under the Co-operative Societies Act) 

Income Statement of Revenue and Expenses 
Year ended December 31, 2005 

 Notes 2005 2004
   $ $ 
   (Restated) 

Interest income: 
 Loans to members   636,949,659  385,493,198  
 Investments and deposits  105,115,890 212,179,622

   742,065,549 597,672,820

Interest expense: 
 Membersʼ deposits   183,526,192 171,879,607  
 External credits  19,882,973 2,455,286  
 Other financial costs  22   28,835,461   18,439,393*

   232,244,626 192,774,286

Net interest income:  509,820,923 404,898,534 
 Allowance for loan losses 5 (  40,469,284) (  21,044,652)   
 Accrued interest write back/(off)         133,885 (       488,962)

Net interest income after allowance and write offs  469,485,524 383,364,920 

Non-interest income: 
 Fees  47,875,664 43,827,111 
 Dividend on equity investments  1,031,174 1,138,024 
 Other income 23   77,493,902   50,523,970

 Gross margin  595,886,264 478,854,025 

Less operating expenses 24 (456,413,039) (355,939,335) * 

Net surplus for year  139,473,225 122,914,690

   

* Reclassified to conform with 2005 presentation. 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 
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CITY OF KINGSTON CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED 
 (A Society Registered Under the Co-operative Societies Act) 

Statement of Changes in Equity  
Year ended December 31, 2005

Institutional Capital

  Statutory & Permanent share General 
  legal reserves capital reserves reserves Total
  $ $ $ $ 

Balances at December 31, 2003  104,017,003 120,000,000 42,488,220 266,505,223 

Restated statutory transfer for 2004 24,988,583 -          -          24,988,583* 

Entrance fees  11,548 -          -          11,548 

Write-back of unused honoraria  -          -          136,736 136,736 

Write-back of unpaid dividends  -          -          37,705 37,705 

Transfer to general reserve            -                    -                   -                    -         

Balance at December 31, 2004, as restated 129,017,134 120,000,000 42,662,661 291,679,795 

Statutory transfer for 2005  24,892,622 -          -          24,892,622 

Write-back of unpaid dividends  -          -          52,797 52,797 

Entrance fees  10,644 -          -          10,644 

Transfer to general reserves            -                    -            62,838,330   62,838,330

Balance at December 31, 2005 153,920,400 120,000,000 105,553,788 379,474,188

* Restated. 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 
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CITY OF KINGSTON CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED 

(A Society Registered Under the Co-operative Societies Act) 

Statement of Changes in Equity 
Year ended December 31, 2005  

Non-Institutional Capital

  Undistributed 
  net 
   income 
   $   

Balances at December 31, 2003     17,040,178

Change in accounting policy (note 29)  (    1,806,479)

Balances at December 31, 2003, as restated  15,233,699 

Restated net surplus for the year (note 29)  122,914,690 

Loan loss reserve      2,028,224

Net surplus for the year, subject to   
 statutory transfer  124,942,914   

Increase in pension reserve  (  11,579,000) 

Appropriations of net surplus for 2003: 
 Dividends     (  16,000,000) 
 Social outreach programme  (1,040,178) 

Restated statutory transfer for 2004  (  24,988,583)

Restated balances at December 31, 2004     86,568,852

Restated net surplus for the year  139,473,225 

Loan loss reserve  (  15,010,113)

Net surplus for the year, subject to  
 statutory transfer  139,473,225    

Increase in pension reserve  (  15,010,113)  

Appropriations of net surplus for 2004: 
 Social outreach programme  (    1,289,000) 
 Honoraria   (    1,350,000) 
 Dividends  (  26,150,000) 

Transfer to general reserve  (  62,838,330) 

Statutory transfer for 2005 (  24,892,622)

     81,671,012

   

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 

CITY OF KINGSTON CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED 

(A Society Registered Under the Co-operative Societies Act) 

Statement of Changes in Equity 
Year ended December 31, 2005  

Non-Institutional Capital

  Undistributed 
  net 
   income 
   $   

Balances at December 31, 2003     17,040,178

Change in accounting policy (note 29)  (    1,806,479)

Balances at December 31, 2003, as restated  15,233,699 

Restated net surplus for the year (note 29)  122,914,690 

Loan loss reserve      2,028,224

Net surplus for the year, subject to   
 statutory transfer  124,942,914   

Increase in pension reserve  (  11,579,000) 

Appropriations of net surplus for 2003: 
 Dividends     (  16,000,000) 
 Social outreach programme  (1,040,178) 

Restated statutory transfer for 2004  (  24,988,583)

Restated balances at December 31, 2004     86,568,852

Restated net surplus for the year  139,473,225 

Loan loss reserve  (  15,010,113)

Net surplus for the year, subject to  
 statutory transfer  139,473,225    

Increase in pension reserve  (  15,010,113)  

Appropriations of net surplus for 2004: 
 Social outreach programme  (    1,289,000) 
 Honoraria   (    1,350,000) 
 Dividends  (  26,150,000) 

Transfer to general reserve  (  62,838,330) 

Statutory transfer for 2005 (  24,892,622)

     81,671,012

   

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 
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CITY OF KINGSTON CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED 
 (A Society Registered Under the Co-operative Societies Act) 

Statement of Cash Flows 
Year ended December 31, 2005 

  2005 2004
  $ $ 

Cash flows from operating activities: 
 Net surplus for year  139,473,225 122,914,690  
 Adjustments to reconcile net surplus for year to net 
  cash flows provided/(used) by operating activities:  

 Depreciation & amortisation of intangible asset 24,265,290 11,239,049  
 Amortisation of deferred expenses  -            (     15,027,053)   
 Allowance for loan losses  9,307,792 21,044,652  
 Accrued interest write off  -            488,962  
 Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment (              1,337) -           
 Employee benefit asset  (     12,841,000) (     11,579,000)    
 Other assets         6,284,722 (     56,222,069)   
 Non-interest bearing liabilities       14,164,865      14,815,208

  Net cash provided by operating activities     180,653,557      87,674,439

Cash flows from investing activities: 
  Proceeds from disposal of property, plant 
  and equipment  603,722 -            
  Additions to property, plant and equipment  (     38,425,086) (     15,492,373)  
  Additions to intangible assets  (     19,916,003) (     14,012,485)   
  Financial investments  (     91,967,464)      92,085,184  
  Loans to members  (1,016,590,464) (1,279,977,904)   
  Credit card advances  (          997,046)        1,965,135

  Net cash used in investing activities  (1,167,292,641) (1,215,432,453)

Cash flows from financing activities: 
  Membersʼ share capital  229,152,830 324,353,353  
  Entrance fees  10,644 11,548 
  Saving deposits  314,194,852 439,996,328  
  External credits  236,295,670 (       4,483,763)   
  Other interest-bearing liabilities       16,904,386 588,339  
  Outreach programme and honoraria  (       2,639,000) (       1,040,178)   
  Write-back of unused honoraria  -            136,736 
  Write-back of unpaid dividends  52,797 37,705  
  Dividends paid  (     26,150,000) (     16,000,000)   

 Net cash provided by financing activities     767,822,179    743,600,068

Increase/(decrease) in liquid assets  (   218,816,605) (   376,027,950)   
Liquid assets at beginning of year     813,581,031 1,189,608,981

Liquid assets at end of year     594,764,426    813,581,031

Liquid assets – earning  557,694,135 791,065,476  
Liquid assets – non-earning      37,070,291      22,515,555

      594,764,426    813,581,031

The accompanying notes from an integral part of the financial statements. 
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1. Identification

The co-operative is registered under the Co-operative Societies Act.  Membership is limited to 
persons living or working in the corporate area, and their families wherever they may reside, or 
to other co-operative societies.  The co-operativeʼs operations are concentrated in the parishes 
of Kingston, St. Andrew, St. Catherine and St. James.  Its registered office and main place of 
business is located at 66 Slipe Road, Kingston. 

The co-operativeʼs main activities are the promotion of thrift, the provision of loans to 
members exclusively for provident and productive purposes and to receive the savings of its 
members either as payments on shares or as deposits. 

The co-operative is exempt from Income Tax under Section 59 (1) of the Co-operative 
Societies Act and Section 12 of the Income Tax Act. 

The co-operative employed 139 persons as at December 31, 2005 (2004: 120).

2. Basis of preparation and statement of compliance

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards and their interpretations adopted by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (IASB), except as described in note 17, and comply in all material respects 
with the provisions of the Co-operative Societies Act. 

The financial statements are presented in Jamaica dollars.  They have been prepared on the 
historical cost basis, except for the inclusion of certain investments at fair value. 

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to 
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets, liabilities, and 
contingent assets and contingent liabilities at the balance sheet date and the income and 
expenses for the year then ended.  Actual amounts could differ from these estimates. 

 The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision 
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects 
both current and future periods. 

 The significant accounting policies used in the preparation of the financial statements 
summarised below conform, in all material respects, to IFRS, except as aforementioned, and 
the Co-operative Societies Act. 

 The accounting policies have been applied consistently to all periods presented in the financial 
statements. 

(a) Property plant and equipment: 

( i) Property plant and equipment: 

 Property plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and 
impairment losses [see accounting policy (j)]. 
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3. Significant accounting policies

(a) Property plant and equipment: (contʼd) 

(ii) Depreciation: 

 Depreciation is provided on the straight-line basis at rates estimated to write-off the 
relevant assets over their expected useful lives.  The rates used are as follows: 

 Buildings   2�% per annum 
 Motorbike  33�% per annum 
 Office machinery & equipment 10%, 20% per annum 
 Data processing equipment 33�% per annum 
 Furniture & fixtures 10%, 20% per annum 

 Land is not depreciated. 

(b) Investments: 

 Securities acquired or loans granted or other receivables that have a fixed or determinable 
payment and which are not quoted in an active market are classified as loans and 
receivables.  An active market is one where quoted prices are readily and regularly 
available from an exchange dealer, broker or other agency and those prices represent 
actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an armʼs length basis.  Debt 
investments that the co-operative has the intent and ability to hold to maturity are 
classified as held-to-maturity.  All other investments are classified as available-for-sale 
instruments.   

 Loans and receivables, securities and held-to-maturity investments are initially measured 
at cost and subsequently amortised cost, calculated on the effective interest rate method, 
less impairment losses [see accounting policy (j)].  Premiums and discounts are included 
in the carrying amount of the related instrument and amortised based on the effective 
interest rate of the instrument.  Available-for-sale investments are measured initially at 
cost and subsequently at fair value with changes in fair value recognised directly in the 
reserve, except, for impairment losses, and in the case of debt securities, foreign 
exchange gains and losses.  Where fair value cannot be reliably measured, they are stated 
at cost.  Where the securities are disposed of, or impaired, the related accumulated 
unrealised gains or losses are recognised in the statement of revenue and expenses.  
Equity securities are considered impaired when there is a prolonged or significant decline 
in fair value below the securities costs.  

 Investments are recognised on the day they are transferred to the co-operative.   

 Fair value is determined based on quoted market bid price.  Where a quoted market price 
is not available, the fair value is estimated using discounted cash flow.  The estimated 
future cash flows are based on managementʼs best estimates and the discount rate is a 
market related rate at the balance sheet date for an instrument with similar terms and 
conditions. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (contʼd)

(c) Reverse repurchase agreements: 

A reverse repurchase agreement ("reverse repo") is a short-term transaction whereby an 
entity buys securities and simultaneously agrees to resell them on a specified date and at 
a specified price.  Reverse repos are accounted for as short-term collateralised lending. 

The co-operative enters into reverse repurchase agreements to resell substantially 
identical investments at a certain date in the future at a fixed price.  The amounts paid are 
recognised as “securities purchased under resale agreements” and are collaterised by the 
underlying securities.  

The difference between the sale and repurchase considerations is recognised on an 
accrual basis over the period of the transaction and is included in interest income. 

(d) Loans to members and allowance for loan losses: 

( i) Loans to members: 

 Loans are stated at cost less allowance for loan losses (see below).   

(ii) Allowance for loan losses: 

An allowance for loan loss is established if there is objective evidence that a loan is 
impaired.  A loan is considered impaired when management determines that it is 
probable that all amounts due according to the contractual terms will not be 
collected.  Where a loan is identified as impaired, a specific provision is recorded 
against such loan to reduce it to its estimated recoverable amount.  The recoverable 
amount is determined as the present value of the expected future cash flows 
discounted at the loanʼs original effective interest rate.   

An allowance for loan loss is also made where there is objective evidence that a 
portfolio of similar loans is impaired.  The expected cash flows for a portfolio of 
similar loans are estimated based on previous experience and the credit rating of 
the borrowers. 

The guidelines stipulated by the Jamaica Co-operative Credit Union League 
(“JCCUL”) require the allowance for loan losses to be stipulated percentages of 
total delinquent loans, the percentage varying with the period of delinquency, 
before considering securities held against such loans. 

The allowance for loan losses required by the JCCUL that is in excess of the 
requirements of IFRS is treated as an appropriation of undistributed net income and 
included in a non-distributable loan loss reserve. 

(e) Other assets: 

 Other assets are stated at cost less impairment losses [see accounting policy (j)]. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (contʼd)

(f) Intangible asset: 

 Intangible asset, which represents software development costs, is stated at cost less 
accumulated amortisation and impairment losses, if any.  It is being amortised at 20% per 
annum.  Development cost incurred up to the date of the software is available for use is 
included in deferred expenditure and thereafter, transferred to intangible asset. 

(g) Other payables and accruals: 

 Other payables and accruals are stated at cost. 

(h) Provisions: 

 A provision is recognised in the balance sheet when the co-operative has a legal or 
constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of 
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimated of the 
amount can be made.  If the effect is material, provisions are determined by discounting 
the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of 
the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. 

(i) External credits: 

 External credits are measured initially at cost and subsequently at amortised cost. 

(j) Impairment: 

The carrying amounts of the co-operativeʼs assets, other than loans to members [see 
accounting policy (d)], are reviewed at each balance sheet date to determine whether 
there is any indication of impairment.  If any such indication exists, the assetʼs 
recoverable amount is estimated at each balance sheet date.  An impairment loss is 
recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds 
its recoverable amount.  Impairment losses are recognised in the statement of revenues 
and expenses. 

  ( i) Calculation of recoverable amount: 

 The recoverable amount of the co-operativeʼs loans and receivables and held-to-
maturity investments and receivables is calculated as the present value of expected 
future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate inherent in the 
asset.  Receivables with a short duration are not discounted. 

 The recoverable amount of other assets is the greater of their net selling price and 
value in use.  In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are 
discounted to their present value using a discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.   
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3. Significant accounting policies (contʼd)

(j) Impairment: (contʼd) 

  (ii) Reversals of impairment: 

 In respect of loans and receivables and held-to-maturity investments and 
receivables, the impairment loss is reversed if the subsequent increase in 
recoverable amount can be related objectively to an event occurring after the 
impairment loss was recognised. 

 In respect of other assets, an impairment loss is reversed if there has been a 
change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. 

 An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the assets carrying amount 
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of 
depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised. 

(k) Interest, fee and dividend income:

 Interest income is recognised in the statement of revenues and expenses as it accrues, 
taking into account the effective yield of the asset. 

 Fee income is recognised when the related service is provided. 

 Dividend income is recognised in the statement of revenues and expenses on the date the 
dividend is declared. 

(l) Foreign currencies: 

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at 
the dates of the transactions.  Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies, which are stated at historical cost, are translated at the foreign exchange rate 
ruling at the balance sheet date.  Foreign exchange differences arising on translation are 
recognised in the statement of revenues and expenses.  Gains and losses arising from 
fluctuation in exchange rates are reflected in the statement of revenues and expenses. 

 (m) Employee benefits: 

 Employee benefits comprising pension asset included in the financial statements have 
been actuarially determined by a qualified independent actuary, appointed by JCCUL.  
The appointed actuaryʼs report outlines the scope of the valuation and the actuaryʼs 
opinion.  The actuarial valuations were conducted in accordance with IAS 19, and the 
financial statements reflect the co-operativeʼs pension asset as computed by the actuary.  
In carrying out their audit, the auditors have relied on the work of the actuary and the 
actuaryʼs report. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (contʼd)

 (m) Employee benefits: (contʼd) 

  The employees of the co-operative participate in a defined benefit multi-employer 
pension scheme operated by JCCUL. 

   
The co-operativeʼs net obligation in respect of the defined benefit pension plan is 
calculated by estimating the amount of future benefits that employees have earned in 
return for their service in the current and prior periods; that value is discounted to 
determine the present value, and the fair value of any plan assets is deducted.  The 
discount rate is determined by reference to the yield at the balance sheet date on long-
term government bonds with dates approximating the terms of the related liability.  The 
calculation is performed by a qualified actuary, using the projected unit credit method.  

When the benefits of the plan are improved, the portion of the increased benefit relating 
to past service by employees is recognised as an expense in the statement of revenues and 
expenses on a straight-line basis over the average period until the benefits become vested.  
To the extent that the benefits are vested immediately, the expense is recognised 
immediately in the statement of revenues and expenses. 

In respect of actuarial gains and losses that arise in calculating the co-operativeʼs 
obligation in respect of the plan, to the extent that any cumulative unrecognised actuarial 
gain or loss exceeds ten percent of the greater of the present value of the defined benefit 
obligation and the fair value of plan assets, that portion is recognised in the statement of 
revenues and expenses over the expected average remaining working lives of the 
employees participating in the plan.  Otherwise, the actuarial gain or loss is not 
recognised. 

Where the calculation results in a benefit to the co-operative, the recognised asset is 
limited to the net total of any unrecognised actuarial losses and past service costs and the 
present value of any future refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions to 
the plan. 

(n) League fees and stabilisation dues: 

 JCCUL has determined the rate of calculating league fees at 0.25% (2004:0.25%) of total 
assets.  Stabilisation dues are computed at a rate of 0.35% (2004: 0.35%) of savings 
funds. 
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4. Loans to members
  2005 2004
  $ $ 

Balance at beginning of year  2,634,400,130 1,354,422,226  
Loans granted  2,427,118,450 2,296,938,637

  5,061,518,580 3,651,360,863  
Less repayments and transfers   (1,410,527,986) (1,016,960,733)   

 Balance at end of year   3,650,990,594 2,634,400,130

(a) Delinquent loans: 

 The following is a summary of delinquent loans at December 31, 2005. 

     Loan loss 
  Number Loans Rate provision  
 Period overdue in arrears in arrears (%) required

$ $ 

2 to 3 months 1,234 64,406,199 10  6,440,620 
3 to 6 months 343 44,914,569 30   13,474,371 
6 to 12 months 274 46,047,822 60 27,628,693 
Over 12 months         81   25,247,228 100 25,247,228

 1,932 180,615,818  72,790,912

The value of chattels held as security against some outstanding loans has not been taken 
into account in estimating irrecoverable loans.  The directors estimate the value of these 
chattels to be in excess of $277,500,000 (2004: $125,000,000). 

Delinquent loans and advances on which interest is no longer accrued amounted to 
$112,455,533 (2004: $64,806,423) as at balance sheet date. 

Loans in arrears includes delinquent credit cards of $5,067,980 (2004: $5,676,409) on 
which provision has been made of $3,487,470 (2004: $3,084,735).

(b) Loans, net of provision for probable losses, are due from the date of the balance 
sheet as follows: 

  2005 2004
  $ $ 

  Within 3 months  27,484,466 36,735,459    
  From 3 months to 1 year  161,313,741 135,563,348  
  From 1 year to 5 years  3,436,337,039 2,444,546,721

    3,625,125,246 2,616,845,528



54

CITY OF KINGSTON CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED
(A Society Registered Under the Co-operative Societies Act) 

Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
Year ended December 31, 2005  

5. Allowance for loan losses

  2005 2004
  $ $ 

Balance brought forward  29,546,230 25,835,515  
Loans written-off  (31,161,492) (17,333,937)   
Increase in provision for current year  40,469,284 21,044,652

Balance carried forward  38,854,022 29,546,230

 Provision made in accordance with JCCUL provisioning requirements is as follows: 

  2005 2004
  $ $  

 Specific provision  38,854,022 29,546,230  
 General provision [note 19(b)] 33,936,890 18,926,777

  72,790,912 48,473,007

 In keeping with IFRS, the general provision is included in loan loss reserve and treated as an 
appropriation of retained earnings [note 19(b)]. 

6. Earning assets – liquid assets
  2005 2004
  $ $ 

Securities and deposits: 
 Government of Jamaica securities (< nine months) 40,000,000 230,231,000 
 Securities purchased under agreement to resell 96,428,621 182,640,952   
 Short-term deposits  418,011,822 364,024,408    
Available-for-sale investments:   
 Units held in unit trust      3,253,692   14,169,116

   557,694,135 791,065,476

 The fair value of securities held as collateral for securities purchased under resale agreement to 
resell amounted to $96,365,747 (2004: $182,881,018). 

7. Financial investments
  2005 2004
  $ $ 

 Securities: 
  Government of Jamaica securities (> nine months) 140,175,000 40,175,000  
 Deposits  -          20,000,000 
 Available-for-sale investments: 

 Quoted shares  10,511,036 1,563,153  
  Unquoted shares    15,156,840 15,156,890

   165,842,876 76,895,043
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8. Non-earning – liquid assets
  2005 2004
  $ $ 

Cash and cash equivalents    37,070,292 22,515,555

9. Non-earning assets

(a) Other assets: 
   2005 2004
  $ $ 

 Deferred expenditure [note 9(b)]  862,105 6,962,061 
 Other receivables    5,950,795 6,108,649  
 Interest receivables on investments  17,983,131 51,723,232  
 Tax recoverable - investments  50,764,468 65,466,556  
 Prepaid expenses  8,342,869 2,065,650  
 CUETS settlement  5,729,424 7,807,397  
 Interest receivable on membersʼ loans  111,706,563 81,637,868  
 Deposit on building  -           5,780,000 
 Dishonoured cheques  3,318,763 5,804,079  
 Remittance clearing      9,062,077     3,676,578

   213,720,195 237,032,070

(b) Deferred expenditure 
  2005 2004
  $ $ 

   
 Balance at beginning of year  6,962,061 -         
 Additions  10,923,626 21,989,114 
 Amortisation charge for year  -          (  15,027,053) 
 Transferred to property, plant and equipment  (    5,359,513) -          
 Transfer to intangible asset  (  11,664,069)           -         

 Balance at end of year [note 9(a)]         862,105     6,962,061    

10. Property, plant and equipment
    Office machinery, 
    equipment, Data 
  Land and  furniture processing   
  buildings Motorbike and fixtures equipment Total
  $ $ $ $ $ 
 Cost: 
  Balances at December 31, 2004 42,010,474 238,000 57,052,493 51,460,106 150,761,073 
  Additions 16,542,784 -       11,296,122 10,586,180 38,425,086 
  Disposals          -               -                -         (     769,898) (       769,898)

  Balances at December 31, 2005 58,553,258 238,000 68,348,615 61,276,388 188,416,261

 Depreciation: 
  Balances at December 31, 2004   9,393,282 152,055 25,608,570 42,051,581   77,205,488 
  Charge for the year  1,410,860 79,333   5,453,449 6,686,873 13,630,515 
  Disposals          -               -                -         (    348,080) (       348,080)

 Balances at December 31, 2005 10,804,142 231,388 31,062,019 48,390,374   90,487,923

 Net book values: 
 Balances at December 31, 2005 47,749,116     6,612 37,286,596 12,886,014   97,928,338 

 Work-in-progress       17,027,153

      114,955,491

 Balances at December 31, 2004 32,617,192   85,945 31,443,923   9,408,525   73,555,585

 Land and buildings include land with a cost of $ 11,569,000 (2004: $874,731).
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11. Intangible asset
  Software
  $  
 Cost: 
  Balance at December 31, 2004 43,365,422  
  Addition 19,916,003

  Balance at December 31, 2005 63,281,425

 Depreciation: 
  Balance at December 31, 2004      930,897  
  Charge for the year  10,815,373

  Balance at December 31, 2005 11,746,270

 Net book values: 
  Balance at December 31, 2005 51,535,155

  Balance at December 31, 2004 42,434,525

12. Savings deposits
  2005 2004
  $ $ 

Balance at beginning of year  1,626,971,140 1,186,974,812   
Add new deposits  2,652,838,499 1,724,350,555

  4,279,809,639 2,911,325,367  
Less withdrawals and transfers  (2,338,643,647) (1,284,354,227)   

Balance at end of year  1,941,165,992 1,626,971,140

13. External credits
  2005 2004
  $ $ 

National Housing Development Corporation No. 1 (note i) 1,600,000 1,800,000  
National Housing Trust (note ii)  749,137 882,240   
Government of Jamaica/Government of Netherlands (note iii) 3,505,164 5,932,608  
National Housing Development Corporation No. 2 (note iv) 9,300,000   9,900,000   
Ja. Co-op. Credit Union League – Hurricane Recovery (note v) 3,749,172 -         
Ja. Co-op. Credit Union League – Line of Credit No. 1 (note vi) 6,870,799 -         
Ja. Co-op. Credit Union League – Line of Credit No. 2 (note vii) 15,274,846 -         
Jamaica Money Market Brokers (note viii)  85,000,000 -         
First Global Bank (note ix)  128,761,400          -        

  254,810,518 18,514,848

(  i) The loan bears interest at 10.5% and is repayable over twenty-five years in quarterly 
equal instalments of $50,000.  The loan is secured by a promissory note and matures in 
December 2013. 

( ii) The loan bears interest at 9% and is payable quarterly.  The loan is secured by a 
promissory note and matures in March 2011.

(iii) The loan bears interest at 11% and is repayable quarterly.  The loan is secured by a 
promissory note and matures in June 2007. 
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13. External credits (contʼd)

(iv) The loan bears interest at 13% and is repayable over twenty-five years in quarterly equal 
instalments of $150,000.  The loan is secured by a promissory note and matures in June 
2021. 

(v) The loan bears interest at 6% and is repayable monthly. The loan is secured by a 
promissory note and matures in March 2010. 

(vi) The loan bears interest at 14.5% and is repayable monthly. The loan is secured by a 
promissory note and matures in January 2006. 

(vii) The loan bears interest at 14.75% and is repayable monthly. The loan is secured by a 
promissory note and matures in March 2006. 

(viii) The loan bears interest at 14% and is repayable monthly. The loan is secured by 
government securities and matures in January 2006. 

(ix) The loan bears interest at 11% and is denominated in United States Dollars. At December 
31, 2005 the outstanding amount was US$2,000,000.  The loan is secured by motor 
vehicle loan receivables and matures in October 2010. 

14. Interest bearing liabilities - others

  2005 2004
  $ $ 

Current account-BNS  17,116,101      588,339 
Current account-RBTT       376,624           -       

   17,492,725      588,339

 This represents the co-operativeʼs liability to its bankers on its current accounts after taking into 
account all cheques issued but not presented for encashment at the year-end. 

15. Non-interest bearing liabilities - payables and accruals

  2005 2004
  $ $ 

 (a) Payables 

  Other payables  10,023,553 4,561,677  
  Standing order payments  16,688,397 11,570,794  
  Advance loans and interest  13,707,780 12,001,058

   40,419,730 28,133,529
 (b) Accruals 

  Other accruals  17,729,636 19,659,387 
  Interest payable  18,814,829 12,087,798  
  Withholding tax payable    3,320,869   3,178,070

   39,865,334 34,925,255
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16. Non-interest bearing liabilities - others

  2005 2004
  $ $ 

    
 Social outreach  -            222,809  
 Unallocated receipts  4,157,999    2,959,230  
 Stale-dated cheques         4,248,081        8,285,486

          8,406,080      11,467,525

17. Membersʼ share capital
  2005 2004
  $ $ 

 Balance at start of year  1,736,696,245 1,412,342,892  
 Add amount subscribed  1,998,291,479 1,748,223,743

   3,734,987,724 3,160,566,635  
 Less withdrawals and transfers  (1,769,138,649) (1,423,870,390)   

 Balance at end of year  1,965,849,075 1,736,696,245

Shares in the co-operative entitle each member to one vote in the conduct of the affairs of the 
co-operative at general meetings.  Shares may be transferred to another member or anyone 
eligible for membership with the consent of the Board of Directors.  Shares may be withdrawn 
in whole or in part by the member, however, the Board of Directors reserves the right at any 
time to require a member to give notice not exceeding six months, provided that no member 
may withdraw any shareholdings below the amount of his total liability to the co-operative 
without the approval of the Board of Directors. 

Membersʼ share capital is classified in the financial statements as part of the co-operativeʼs 
capital.  IFRS requires such shares to be classified as a liability as their terms provide for 
withdrawal at the option of the member.  Payments to members as return on capital are 
classified as dividends and presented as an appropriation of undistributed surplus.  IFRS 
requires that, inasmuch as the shares themselves are classified as a liability, such payments be 
classified as interest expense and presented as a charge in arriving at a net surplus for the 
period.  In this regard, the financial statements are not in compliance with IFRS. 

If IFRS had been applied in relation to this matter, liabilities would have increased and capital 
decreased by $1,965,849,075 (2004: $1,736,696,245).  Interest expense would have increased 
and dividends and net surplus decreased by $26,150,000 (2004: $16,000,000). 

 The effect on interest expense and net surplus for the year ended December 31, 2005, cannot be 
determined prior to a declaration of dividend. 
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18. Institutional capital
  2005 2004
  $ $ 

 Statutory and legal reserves   153,920,400 129,017,134*   
 Permanent share capital reserves   120,000,000 120,000,000  
 General reserves    105,553,788   42,662,661

   379,474,188 291,679,795

 Institutional capital forms a part of the permanent capital of the co-operative and is not 
available for distribution. 

 Statutory and legal reserves: 

 The statutory and legal reserves are maintained in accordance with the provisions of the Co-
operative Societies Act which requires that a minimum of 20% of net profit be carried to a 
reserve fund.  Upon application by a Registered Society the Registrar may allow the required 
percentage to be reduced, but not below 10%.  The transfer is calculated on net profits net of 
loan loss reserve. 

 Permanent share capital reserves: 

Permanent share capital reserves were created in 1999 as an appropriation from the 
accumulated surplus, approved at an Annual General Meeting, as a basis for the trading of the 
co-operativeʼs shares.  It will be distributed to members as soon as legislation is passed. 

 General reserves: 

General reserves represent appropriation from the accumulated surplus for the purpose of 
strengthening the capital base of the co-operative.  The amount transferred is determined at the 
Annual General Meeting. 

19. Other reserves

(a) Investment revaluation reserve: 

 This represents the unrealised gains and losses arising on changes in fair value of 
available-for-sale investments. 

(b) Loan loss reserve: 

 This is a non-distributable loan loss reserve which represents the excess of the loan loss 
provision over IAS 39 requirements. 

* Restated. 
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20. Pension reserve

The pension reserve represents the pension surplus arising on the actuarial valuation, under IAS 
19, of the pension scheme in which the co-operative participates.  Annual changes in the value 
of the scheme are shown in the statement of revenues and expenses, then transferred to this 
reserve. 

21. Employee benefits

The co-operative participates in a defined benefit plan operated by the Jamaica Co-operative 
Credit Union League Limited.  This is a contributory pension scheme that is jointly funded by 
payments from employees of 5% (10% optional), and by the co-operative of 6% of the 
employeeʼs taxable remuneration, taking into account the recommendations of independent 
qualified actuaries. 

(a) Employee benefit asset: 
   2005 2004
   $ $ 

 Present value of funded obligations (  58,349,000) (  37,508,000)   
 Fair value of pension plan assets  138,958,000 126,037,000   
 Unrecognised actuarial gains  (    4,970,000) (  25,731,000)   

 Asset recognised in balance sheet   75,639,000   62,798,000

(b) Movements in the net asset recognised in the balance sheet: 

  2005 2004
    $ $ 

 Net asset at beginning of year  62,798,000 51,219,000  
 Contributions paid  5,728,000 4,890,000  
 Credit recognised in statement of revenues  
 and expenses       7,113,000     6,689,000

 Net asset at end of year    75,639,000   62,798,000

(c) Credit recognised in the statement of revenues and expenses: 

  2005 2004
    $ $ 
     
 Current service costs (    1,220,000) (  1,899,000)   
 Interest on obligation 4,864,000 4,059,000 

Actuarial gain recognised (       452,000) (       54,000) 
 Expected return on pension plan assets (  10,305,000) (  8,795,000 �)   

   (    7,113,000) (  6,689,000)   

Actual return on pension plan assets  20.78% 22.91%  
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21. Employee benefits (contʼd)

(d) Principal actuarial assumptions at the balance sheet date (expressed as weighted averages): 

  2005 2004
   % % 

  Discount rate  12.5 14.0   
  Expected return on plan assets  8.0 9.5   
  Future salary increases   8.0   8.0   

22. Other financial costs

  2005 2004
  $ $ 

 Expenses – VISA credit card  -         133,975  
 Expenses – remittance service  114,391 18,173  
 Interest on overdraft  2,391,388 1,036,685  
 Bank charges  7,117,990 3,142,951 
 Financing charges  250,000 -          
 Cambio licence fees  375,712 122,135** 
 Collections expenses  573,582 396,656 
 Loan broker expenses  5,297,102 4,214,359 
 Legal expenses    12,715,295     9,374,459

     28,835,461   18,439,393 ** 

23. Other income
  2005 2004*
  $ $ 

 Remittance service  2,441,740 1,369,255  
 Visa credit card operation  3,948,198 3,188,249  
 Miscellaneous income  15,570,299 3,694,301  
 Foreign currency gain  1,365,493 2,031,104  
 Profit on cambio trading  6,173,582 2,872,009  
 Default interest  6,894,894 4,995,305  
 Legal department income  15,306,798 15,400,452  
 Bad debt recoveries    25,792,898   16,973,295

     77,493,902   50,523,970

*   Restated.  
** Reclassified to conform with 2005 presentation. 
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21. Employee benefits (contʼd)

(d) Principal actuarial assumptions at the balance sheet date (expressed as weighted averages): 

  2005 2004
   % % 

  Discount rate  12.5 14.0   
  Expected return on plan assets  8.0 9.5   
  Future salary increases   8.0   8.0   

22. Other financial costs

  2005 2004
  $ $ 

 Expenses – VISA credit card  -         133,975  
 Expenses – remittance service  114,391 18,173  
 Interest on overdraft  2,391,388 1,036,685  
 Bank charges  7,117,990 3,142,951 
 Financing charges  250,000 -          
 Cambio licence fees  375,712 122,135** 
 Collections expenses  573,582 396,656 
 Loan broker expenses  5,297,102 4,214,359 
 Legal expenses    12,715,295     9,374,459

     28,835,461   18,439,393 ** 

23. Other income
  2005 2004*
  $ $ 

 Remittance service  2,441,740 1,369,255  
 Visa credit card operation  3,948,198 3,188,249  
 Miscellaneous income  15,570,299 3,694,301  
 Foreign currency gain  1,365,493 2,031,104  
 Profit on cambio trading  6,173,582 2,872,009  
 Default interest  6,894,894 4,995,305  
 Legal department income  15,306,798 15,400,452  
 Bad debt recoveries    25,792,898   16,973,295

     77,493,902   50,523,970

*   Restated.  
** Reclassified to conform with 2005 presentation. 
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24. Operating expenses

Operating expenses included the following: 
  2005 2004
  $ $ 
Personnel expenses: 
Salaries and wages  206,471,574 168,340,159 
Employerʼs statutory contributions  12,684,209 10,735,706   
Education and training  7,699,499 6,503,177  
Unused vacation leave  110,457 (         29,584)   
Pension credit [note 21(c)]  (    7,113,000) (    6,689,000)     

  219,852,739 178,860,458
Membersʼ securities: 
CUNA life savings and loan protection  19,925,182 13,591,886  
Bond insurance      1,186,311        739,640

    21,111,494   14,331,526
Operating expenses included the following: 
Administrative expenses: 

Printing, stationery and supplies  12,179,618 11,123,908  
Repairs and maintenance  6,007,406 5,008,315  
Depreciation and amortisation  24,445,889 11,252,123  
Rental of premises  3,491,866 2,476,050  
Travelling and subsistence  6,898,209 10,114,229 
Meetings, functions and conferences  3,042,225 2,880,198  
Subscriptions and other administrative expenses  11,389,772 9,334,903* 
Electricity and water   11,229,269 7,614,080  
Telephone  10,875,701 8,305,906  
Auditorsʼ remuneration - current year - fees 2,200,000 2,000,000  

   - expenses 19,654 20,004  
 - prior year   106,000 -          

Data processing  5,488,130 2,862,923  
Annual general meeting  3,252,392 2,792,873  
Professional and consulting fees  2,972,941 2,910,783  
Security expenses  12,943,248 10,773,565  
JETS switch fees  1,050,276 972,537  
G.C.T. irrecoverable     14,737,313    11,295,090   
Insurance premiums - property      2,541,521     2,823,568

  134,871,430 104,561,055
Marketing and promotion expenses: 
Publicity and promotion    60,014,071   38,116,822

Representation and affiliation expenses: 
League and other dues  19,530,657 15,376,049 
League meetings       1,032,651     1,481,054

    20,563,308   16,857,103
Amounts written off             -              3,212,371
TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES  456,413,039 355,939,335

* Reclassified to conform with 2005 presentation. 
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25. Staff and volunteersʼ loans balances

 These represent loans granted and deposits held by members of staff, the Board of Directors, 
supervisory and credit committees. 

 Number Loans Shares & deposits
  $ $ 

Staff 156 84,433,882 53,157,550  
Volunteers   18 33,444,159 15,170,725

 No special conditions were attached to these loans and the conditions of repayment have been 
complied with.   

26. Related parties

(a) Identity of related parties: 

 The co-operative has a related party relationship with its directors and key management 
personnel and the pension scheme.  Related party balances are disclosed in note 25. 

(b) Key management personnel compensation is as follows: 

  2005 2004
  $ $ 

Short-term employee benefits 
 included in staff cost (note 24)  10,920,411 10,279,616 
Post-employment benefit         47,096        38,906      

   10,967,507 10,318,522

27. Life savings and loan protection insurance

 Life savings and loan protection insurance were in force during the year. 

28. Comparison of ledger balances

 Savings deposits Loans Shares
 $ $ $ 

General ledger 1,941,165,992 3,650,990,594 1,965,849,075 

Personal ledger 1,941,165,992 3,650,990,594 1,965,849,075 

Differences as at December 31, 2005           -                        -                      -           

Differences as at December 31, 2004           -                        -                      -           

29. Change in accounting policy

 The adoption of the revised IAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement has 
resulted in the co-operative recognising gains and losses arising from changes in fair value of 
available-for-sale investments within reserves instead of the statement of revenues and 
expenses.  The prior periods have been restated accordingly. 
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29. Change in accounting policy (contʼd)

 The change had the following impact: 

 Reserves

   Equity 
 Institutional Non-institution revaluation 
  capital   capital   reserve 
 $ $ $ 

Balance at January 1, 2004:  
 as previously reported 266,505,223 17,010,178 -        

 Impact of restating gain arising on 
 changes in fair value           -          (    1,806,479) 1,806,479

 As restated 266,505,223   15,233,699 1,806,479

Balance as at December 31, 2004: 
 as previously reported 292,492,794 91,627,330 -        

 Impact of restating gain arising on 
 changes in fair value           -          (    5,871,477) 5,871,477 

 Impact on statutory transfer (       812,999)        812,999         -       

 As restated 291,679,795   86,568,852 5,871,477

 Net surplus for 2004

Net surplus before change in  
 accounting policy  126,979,688  

Impact of change in accounting policy  (    4,064,998)

   122,914,690

30. Commitments

(a) At December 31, 2005, there were loan commitments to members totalling $23,578,275 
(2004: $27,155,440). 

(b) Capital commitments approved but not yet expended in respect of the construction of a 
new office building amounted to $49,494,568 as at December 31, 2005, (2004: $Nil). 

31. Contingencies

 There are certain legal actions brought against the co-operative which are outlined below. 

 The co-operativeʼs attorneys-at-law are unable at this time to provide any opinion as to the 
likely outcome of these claims and accordingly, no provisions have been made in these 
financial statements. 
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31. Contingencies (contʼd)

(a) A claim against the co-operative for failing to retain title and the consequential loss of 
profits as a result of a member failing to fulfil a contract.  The matter is before the 
Registrar of Co-operatives and Friendly Societies as the co-operative has appealed the 
award of $5,000,000, determined by the Arbitrator. 

(b) A claim against the co-operative for approximately $1,000,000 for libel and slander.  The 
co-operative is vigorously defending this claim. 

(c) The co-operative was assessed $12,584,370 by the Commissioner of Taxpayer, Audit and 
Assessment Department (TAAD), for PAYE deductions arising on employeesʼ 
emoluments over the period January 1998 to December 2001.  An objection has been 
filed by the co-operative and the TAAD has decided to conduct further investigations.  
Management is awaiting the outcome of these investigations. 

32. Adoption of new and revised IFRS

At the date of authorisation of the financial statements, there were certain standards and 
interpretations which were in issue but were not yet effective.  Those which are considered 
relevant to the co-operative and their effective dates are as follows: 

1FRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosure January 1, 2007 

IFRIC 4 Determining whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease January 1, 2006 

IAS 19 
Amendment 

Actuarial Gains & Losses, Group Plans and Disclosures January 1, 2006 

IAS 39 
Amendment 

The Fair Value Option January 1, 2006 

IAS 39 
Amendment 

Financial Guarantee Contracts January 1, 2006 

IFRIC 9 Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives June 1, 2006 

The adoption of IFRS 7 and the IAS 19 Amendment is expected to result in additional 
disclosures for financial instruments and the defined benefit scheme.  Except for these 
additional disclosures, the adoption of these standards and interpretations are not expected to 
have a material impact on the financial statements.   
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33. Fidelity insurance

 Fidelity insurance coverage was adequately maintained during the year. 

34. Financial instruments

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one enterprise and a 
financial liability or equity instrument of another enterprise.  For the purposes of these financial 
statements, financial assets have been determined to include loans to members, investments, 
cash and cash equivalents and receivables.  Financial liabilities have been determined to be 
external credits, payables and accruals. 

 Information relating to fair values and risks of financial instruments is summarised below. 

(i) Fair value: 

 Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged or a liability settled 
between knowledgeable, willing parties who are under no compulsion to act and is 
evidenced by a quoted market price, if one exists, in an armʼs length transaction.   

Many of the co-operativeʼs financial instruments lack an available trading market.  
Therefore, these instruments have been valued using present value or other valuation 
techniques and may not necessarily be indicative of the amounts realisable in an 
immediate settlement of the instruments. 

The fair values of cash resources, securities purchased under resale agreements, other 
assets, other liabilities, are assumed to approximate their carrying values due to their 
short-term nature. 

The fair value of the quoted equities is determined based on their quoted bid price at 
the balance sheet date.  The fair value of Government of Jamaica securities is estimated 
by discounting the future cash flows of the securities at the estimated yields at the 
balance sheet date for similar securities.  The estimated fair values of loans to members 
are assumed to be the principal receivable less any allowance for loan losses. 

The fair value of external credits, deposits payable on demand or after notice, and 
deposits with a variable or floating rate payable on a fixed date are assumed to be equal 
to their carrying values.  The estimated fair values of fixed rate deposits payable within 
a year are assumed to approximate their carrying values, due to their short-term nature. 

 The following table sets out the fair values of the financial instruments of the co-
operative using the above-mentioned valuation methods and assumptions. 
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34. Financial instruments (contʼd)

 Information relating to fair values and risks of financial instruments is summarised below: 
(contʼd) 

(  i) Fair value: (contʼd) 

   2005   2004 
 Carrying Fair Carrying Fair 
 value value value value
 $ʼ000 $ʼ000 $ʼ000 $ʼ000 

Financial assets: 

Loans and advances 3,625,125 3,625,125 2,616,846 2,616,846 
   Liquid assets 557,694 558,160 791,065 795,106   
   Financial investments 165,843 179,263 76,895 76,933   
   Non-earning assets    492,920    492,920    438,336    438,336

 4,841,582 4,855,468 3,923,142 3,927,221

Financial liabilities: 

Savings deposits 1,941,165 1,941,165 1,626,971  1,626,971   
External credits 254,811 254,811 18,515 18,515  
Other   17,493 17,493  588    588 

   Non-interest bearing 
   liabilities      88,691      88,691      74,526      74,526

    2,302,160 2,302,160 1,720,600 1,720,600

( ii) Credit risk: 

 Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an 
obligation and cause the other party to incur a financial loss.  The co-operative has 
significant concentration of credit risks in loans to members and investments.  

 The co-operative manages this risk by screening its customers, establishing credit 
limits, obtaining collateral for loans and the rigorous follow-up of loan receivables; and 
ensuring investments and securities purchased under resale agreements are low-risk or 
held with sound financial institutions.  At the balance sheet date, there were no other 
significant concentrations of credit risk and the maximum exposure to credit risk is 
represented by the carrying balance of each financial asset. 

(iii) Interest rate risk: 

 Interest rate risk is the potential for economic loss due to future interest rate changes.  It 
arises when there is a mismatch between interest-earning assets and interest-bearing 
liabilities, which are subject to interest rate adjustment within a specified period.  It can 
be reflected as a loss of future net interest income and/or a loss of current market 
values.  The co-operative has substantial investments in financial assets whose yields 
are based on contractual rates. 
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34. Financial instruments (contʼd)

(iii) Interest rate risk: (contʼd) 

  2005 
 Within 3 to 12 Over Non-rate 
 3 months months 12 months sensitive Total
 $ʼ000 $ʼ000 $ʼ000 $ʼ000 $ʼ000 

ASSETS

Loans 119,666 169,116 3,326,841 -        3,615,623 
Credit card advances 9,502 -        -        -        9,502 
Liquid assets 539,440 15,000 -        3,254 557,694 
Financial investments  -        5,000 135,175 25,668 165,843 
Non-earning assets         -                -                -           492,920    492,920

Total assets    668,608    189,116 3,462,016    521,842 4,841,582

LIABILITIES
Savings deposits 1,619,797 223,243 98,126 -        1,941,166 
External credits 112,682 23,407 118,721 -        254,810 
Other 17,493 -        -        -        17,493 
Non-interest bearing 
 liabilities         -                -                -             88,691      88,691

Total liabilities 1,749,972    246,650    216,847      88,691 2,302,160

Total interest rate      
 sensitivity gap (1,081,364) (     57,534) 3,245,169 433,151 2,539,422 
Cumulative gap  (1,081,364) (1,138,898) 2,106,271 2,539,422         -       

  2004 
 Within 3 to 12 Over Non-rate 
 3 months months 12 months sensitive Total
 $ʼ000 $ʼ000 $ʼ000 $ʼ000 $ʼ000 

ASSETS

Loans      24,994 246,071 2,336,873 -        2,607,938  
Credit card advances 8,907 -      -        -        8,907 
Liquid assets 521,237 255,659 -        14,169 791,065  
Financial investments  20,000 40,175 -        16,720 76,895  
Non-earning assets         -               -              -           438,336    438,336

Total assets    575,138 541,905 2,336,873    469,225 3,923,141

LIABILITIES
Savings deposits 1,432,754 113,806 80,411 -        1,626,971   
External credits 840 2,518 15,157 -        18,515 
Other 588 -       -        -        588 
Non-interest bearing 
 liabilities         -              -               -             74,526      74,526

Total liabilities 1,434,182 116,324      95,568      74,526 1,720,600

Total interest rate 
 sensitivity gap (   859,044) 425,581 2,241,305    394,699 2,202,541 
Cumulative gap (   859,044) (433,463)  1,807,842 2,202,541 2,202,541
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34. Financial instruments (contʼd)

 (iii) Interest rate risk: (contʼd) 

Average effective yields by the earlier of contractual repricing and maturity dates: 

  2005 
 Within 3 to Over 
 3 months 12 months 12 months Total
 (%) (%) (%) (%) 

Loans 18.3 19.6 21.0 20.9 
Credit card advances 42.0 - - - 
Liquid assets 12.7 16.9 - 12.8 
Financial investments  - 16.9 15.5 15.6 
Savings deposits   10.3 13.0 15.1 9.7 
External credits 13.9 10.9 11.0 12.3    

 Average effective yields by the earlier of contractual repricing and maturity dates: 

  2004 
 Within 3 to Over 
 3 months 12 months 12 months Total
 (%) (%) (%) (%) 

Loans 19.0 17.9 20.5 20.3 
Credit card advances 42.0 - - 42.0 
Liquid assets 17.3 17.5 - 17.3 
Financial investments  15.3 16.9 16.4 16.1 
Savings deposits   11.1 13.5 15.7 10.2 
External credits 11.3 11.3 12.1 11.9    

(iv) Foreign currency: 

 Foreign currency risk is the risk that the market value of, or the cash flows from, financial 
instruments will vary because of exchange rate fluctuations.  The co-operative is exposed 
to foreign currency risk due to fluctuation in exchange rates on transactions and balances 
that are denominated in currencies other than the Jamaica dollar.  Net foreign currency 
assets were as follows: 

   2005 2004
   US$ US$ 

 Bank accounts   167,284 72,426  
 Investments  22,772 110,249 
 External credits  (2,000,000)       -      

    (1,809,944) 182,675
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34. Financial instruments (contʼd)

(v) Market risk: 

 Market risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of 
changes in market prices, whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the 
individual security or its issuer or factors affecting all securities traded in the market.  
The society has no significant exposure to market risk as it has no significant financial 
instruments subject to this risk. 

 (vi) Liquidity risk: 

  Liquidity risk, also referred to as funding risk, is the risk that the co-operative will 
encounter difficulty in raising funds to meet commitments associated with financial 
instruments.  Liquidity risk may result from an inability to sell a financial asset quickly at 
or close to its fair value.  Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining 
sufficient cash and marketable securities, and the availability of funding through an 
adequate amount of committed facilities.  The co-operative is exposed to daily calls on its 
cash resources.  The co-operative maintains sufficient maturing instruments to meet these 
daily needs.  The matching and controlled mismatching of maturities and interest rates of 
assets and liabilities are fundamental to the management of the co-operative. 

(vii) Cash flow risk: 

 Cash flow risk is the risk that future cash flows associated with a monetary financial 
instrument will fluctuate in amount. 

 The co-operative manages this risk through budgetary measures ensuring as far as 
possible, that financial assets and liabilities are matched to mitigate any significant 
adverse cash flows. 

   
35. Accounting estimates and judgements

Judgements made by management in the application of IFRS that have significant effect on the 
financial statements and estimates with a significant risk of material adjustment in the next 
financial year are discussed below: 

(a) Pension and other post-retirement benefits: 

 The amounts recognised in the balance sheet and income statements for pension and 
other post-retirement benefits are determined actuarially using several assumptions.  The 
primary assumptions used in determining the amounts recognised include expected long-
term return on plan assets and the discount rate used to determine the present value of 
estimated future cash flows required to settle the pension obligations. 

 The expected return on plan assets assumed considering the long-term historical returns, 
asset allocation and future estimates of long-term investment returns.  The discount rate is 
determined based on the estimate of yield on long-term government securities that have 
maturity dates approximating the terms of the companyʼs obligations; in the absence of 
such instruments in Jamaica, it has been necessary to estimate the rate by extrapolating
from the longest-tenor security on the market.  Any changes in these assumptions will 
impact the amounts recorded in the financial statements for these obligations. 
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35. Accounting estimates and judgements (contʼd)

(b) Allowance for loan losses: 

 In determining amounts recorded for impairment of loan losses in the financial 
statements, management makes judgements regarding indicators of impairment, that is, 
whether there are indicators that suggest there may be a measurable decrease in the 
estimated future cash flows from loans, for example, repayment default and adverse 
economic conditions.  Management also makes estimates of the likely estimated future 
cash flows from impaired loans as well as the timing of such cash flows.  Historical loss 
experience is applied where indicators of impairment are not observable on individual 
significant loans and loans portfolio with similar characteristics, such as credit risks. 

It is reasonably possible, based on existing knowledge, that outcomes with the next financial 
year that are different from these assumptions could require a material adjustment to the 
carrying amount reflected in the financial statements. 

36. Subsequent event

Subsequent to the year end, the co-operative committed to enter into a loan facility of $60 million 
from the Jamaica Co-operative Credit Union League Limited (ʻLeagueʼ) to finance the 
construction of a new office building.  The loan will be over ten (10) years and will be secured by 
the hypothecation of deposits held with the League. 
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The Credit Committee for 2005 comprised of the 
following volunteers:

Messrs.  Erell Crooks – Chairman
  Patrick Whittock
  Al Chambers
  James Wood

Mesdames Monica Cobran
  Dr. Heather Lawson-Myers
  Carolene Lake
  Carol Williams
  Calys Wiltshire

The Credit Committee convened weekly on Wednesday 
evenings to consider loans in excess of $1.5 million 
and loans approved in-house by management, as 
well as loans for volunteers and staff. Occasionally, 
special meetings were held on other days.  PowerPoint 
presentations were introduced to improve the quality 
of the credit reviews.
 
To enhance the critical and fair assessment of some credit 
applications, specialized assistance was sought from  
experts in those technical fields. The Credit Committee 
in collaboration with the Processing Department 
therefore sought to ensure that loans disbursed were 
subject to the most rigorous examination. This was 
done in continuation of efforts to contain delinquency 
and within industry standards.

PROCESSING  DEPARTMENT 

The Processing Department, managed by Mr. Cleon 
Haughton, was supported by a team of 16 persons 
who assisted in co-ordinating the loan process.
The Team:
Dionne Johnson-Roberts Senior Processing   
 Officer (Supervisor)
Peter Downey Senior Processing   
 Officer (Supervisor) 
Antonette Lynch Admin. Assistant
Mary Mclaren Processing Officer
Clive Thompson Processing Officer
John Graham Processing Officer
Ewan Walters Processing Officer
Olga Munroe Site & Service
Nickeisha Carter Processing Clerk

CREDIT COMMITTEE REPORT
TO THE 39TH ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

Kerine Brown Processing Clerk
Ricardo Shirley Processing Clerk
Famar Edwards Temporary Staff
Kherena Edwards Temporary Staff
Tricia Laylor Temporary Staff
Dwight Coburn Temporary Staff
Omar Russell Temporary Staff

The following persons were transferred from the 
department during the year:

Diana Leach Patterson  
 –  Former Senior Processing Officer was   
  transferred to the Montego Bay Branch as  
  Assistant Branch Manager.
Nadine Chin 
 –  Processing Officer was transferred to the  
  Portmore Branch.
Chevar Beecher 
 – Temporary Staff was transferred to the  
  Portmore Branch. 

CREDIT COMMITTEE
Standing (L-R): Al Chambers, Errell Crooks (Chairman)
Seated (L-R): Carolene Lake, Monica Cobran 

Missing: James Wood, Dr. Heather Dawn Lawson-Myers, 
Patrick Whittock, Carol Williams, Calys Wiltshire
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LOAN PORTFOLIO

COK continued its diverse product offering and used adept strategies to meet and surpass the demands of our 
members.

The types of loan offered were:
• Home Improvement
• Education
• Motor Vehicle
• Business
• Ten-to-One
• Twenty-Five-to-One
• Share Building
• Line of Credit
• Loan within shares
• Loan within deposit

DISBURSEMENTS 

        
At year-end December 2005, the amount of $2.427 billion had been disbursed, surpassing the disbursement figure 
in 2004 by 5.7%.
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STAFF AND VOLUNTEERS

The chart below represents savings held by and loans granted to 164 members of staff, the Board of Directors and 
volunteers from the Supervisory and Credit Committees.

LOAN CATEGORIES
The loan portfolio was placed into six main categories:
1) Motor car  2) Loan within shares  3)  Loan within deposit
4) Loan above  5) Fast loan   6) Others

Of the total loan portfolio motor car loans represented 48%; loan within shares 23%; loan above 19%; loan 
within deposit 7%; FAST loan 2% and others 1%.
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CREDIT POLICY

 Alterations were made to some categories of loans:
  

• Motor Car Loan – The COK equity requirement portion was revised to reflect:
– New vehicle 10%, 
– 1-5 years 15%
– 6-8 years 10% 

• FAST Loan – The qualifying share requirement was changed to one third of the amount
 requested or a minimum of $10,000.00. *

DELINQUENCY

 The following is a summary of the delinquent loans as at December 31, 2005.

Months in 
Arrears

# of Delinquent 
Members

Total Delinquent 
Loans

Savings held 
against loans

Portion not 
covered by 

Savings

 $ $ $

2 to 3 1,234          64,406,199           8,179,001    56,227,198 

3 to 6 343          44,914,569           1,216,761    43,697,808 

6 to 12 274          46,047,822                14,720    46,033,102 

Over 12 81          25,247,228              170,082    25,077,146 

2005 1,932        180,615,818           9,580,564  171,035,254 

2004 1,711          85,077,208           5,195,558    79,881,649 

Provision for delinquent loans is estimated as follows:

Months in 
Arrears

Total Delinquent 
Loans

Required Provision 
Estimated 

Unrecoverable Loans

 $ % $

2 to 3 64,406,199 10 6,440,620

3 to 6 44,914,569 30 13,474,371

6 to 12 46,047,822 60 27,628,693

Over 12 25,247,228 100 25,247,228

 180,615,818 72,790,912

The committee looks forward to seeing additional members utilizing all loan facilities but especially our 
business loan facility, and will continue to ensure that loans are evaluated utilising the highest possible 
standards.

Erell Crooks
Chairman
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SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE REPORT
TO THE 39TH ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

At the 38th Annual General Meeting on May 14, 2005, 
the following members were elected to serve on the 
Supervisory Committee.

Mesdames:       Jacqueline Daley  -  Chairman
                   Kay Anderson       -  Secretary
  Marcia Detry Fogah
  Myrna Watts
Misses  Debbie-Ann Gordon Crawford 
  Herma Walker
  Dianne McIntosh
Messrs:  Clive Medwynter
  Deputy Commandant James Golding  

During the year Mrs. Debbie-Ann Gordon Crawford 
resigned from the Supervisory Committee to fill a vacant 
position on the Board.  The Supervisory Committee has 
since been operating with one vacancy.

SCOPE OF WORK
During the year the Supervisory Committee, facilitated by  
the Internal Audit Department, reviewed  various areas 
of the organisation and made reports to the Board of 
Directors and Management as follows:

• Review of the Surveillance System

• Review of  Portfolio Data For Loans And  

Deposits

• Audit of Cambio & FX Trading Operations

• Audit Review of Bank Reconciliations

• Audit Review Of Allowance/Provision for Loan 

Losses

• Audit of Remittance Clearing Accounts

• Audit of Cash Floats – (All Branches)

• Individual Accounts Review

• Monthly Cash Counts

• Audit Review of ATM Disbursements

• Audit of Loans Receivable Reconciliations

• Review of  Golden Harvest Operations

• Audit of External Investments

The staff within the Audit Department was kept busy 
during the year with the many reviews as stated above, 
while the members of the Supervisory Committee ably 
supported them in their responsibilities.

The audit functions were performed in accordance with 
international auditing standards and accounting principles. 
There was general adherence to established policies and 
procedures, and the extent of compliance with the related 
laws and regulations that govern the credit union’s 
operations is considered adequate. In response to the 
committee’s reports the management ensured that most 
of the corrections were done.

HIGHLIGHTS

Financial Performance

Despite the many challenges in the highly competitive 
financial market, the Credit Union was able to generate 
a Net Surplus of $139.5 million for the year ending 
December 31, 2005, an increase $16.5 million over 2004. 
We are grateful that the organization was able to show 
some improvement in its financial performance, given the 
expansions which were only finalized in the last half of 
2005.  

Loans to Members and Delinquency

Loans disbursed to members for the year 2005 increased 
by $130 million or 5.6% over 2004.

SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE
(L – R): Myrna Watts, Deputy Commandant James 
Golding, Herma Walker, Marcia Detry Fogah, Dianne 
McIntosh
Missing: Kay Anderson (Secretary), Jacqueline Daley 
(Chairman) and Clive Medwynter
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LOANS DISBURSED

2005 2004

$2,427,118,450 $2,296,938,637

Notwithstanding the increased competition that ensued 
during the year from our competitors in the financial 
sector, we were able to maintain the impressive loan 
disbursement levels which was experienced in the previous 
year. The loan portfolio grew by 38.6% to give a balance 
at the end of year of $3.65 billion. 

Delinquency as at year end stands at 4.8% which is still 
below the target set by the PEARLS standards, and we 
anticipate that management will reduce this figure in the 
coming year.

The Delinquency Profile is as follows:

Mths. in 
Arrears

Number in 
Arrears

Loan Arrears ($)

2005 2004 2005 2004

Under 6 Months

6 – 12 Months

Over 12 Months

    1,577

       274
         81

1,424

   201

    86

109,320,768

  46,047,822  
  25,247,228

36,536,930

17,435,483

31,104,795

TOTAL 1932 1,711 180,615,818 85,077,208

We have the assurance that management is maintaining 
a reasonable check on the area of delinquency and hope 
that this will be given greater focus in 2006.

SUGGESTION BOX

Towards the end of the review period, members placed 
fewer suggestions in the box.  Although this could be an 
indication that the Credit Union is improving the delivery 
of service to its members, we would like to encourage 
members to continue to keep us informed of the quality 
of service being received and also to give new ideas to the 
Supervisory Committee, Management and the Board.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

With the co-operation from you the members, the Board of 
Directors, volunteers, the management and staff, we were 
able to complete yet another successful year, and for this 

we say thanks to all who have participated.  The success 
of this great organization is the result of your continued 
support and dedication.

We, the members of the Supervisory Committee, would 
therefore like to thank you the members for affording us 
this opportunity to serve, and also to the volunteers and 
the management and staff for their unending support.   

I must also take this opportunity to personally thank the 
members of this committee and the members of staff of 
the Internal Audit department for the sterling support you 
gave,  in an effort to build a better COK.  Once again your 
kind words and tangible support have not gone unnoticed.  
You are a true team.

Jacqueline Daley (Mrs.)
Chairman – Supervisory Committee

Retiree
Scheduled
Meetings

Meetings
Attended

Meetings
Excused

Jacqueline Daley 23 22 1

Marcia Detry Fogah 23 16 7

Myrna Watts 23 22 1

Herma Walker 23 19 4

Kay Anderson 23 16 7

Clive Medwynter 23 22 1

James Golding 23 16 7

*Debbie-Ann Gordon
 Crawford

17 10 7

Diane McIntosh 12 8 4

Attendance at Supervisory Committee Meetings
January to December 2005

* Serving as a Director since November 2005
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NOMINATING COMMITTEE REPORT
TO THE 39TH ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The members appointed to the Nominating Committee 
were:

Mr Albert Morris  - Vice President of the Board
    and Chairman of Committee
Mr Garth O’Sullivan - Member
Mrs Brenda Cuthbert - Staff
Mrs Patricia Walker - Staff

The Mandate of the Committee
1. As per Article XIII Rule 65(a)
“Not less than thirty (30) days prior to each Annual 
General Meeting, the Board of Directors shall appoint a 
Nominating Committee of three (3) Members, of which not 
more than one may be a member of the existing Board of 
Directors. It shall be the duty of the Nominating Committee 
to nominate at the Annual General Meeting one member 
for each vacancy for which elections are being held.”

The selection criteria included:
• Members shares to be in excess of $10,000
• Loans of members (if applicable) should be 

current and be serviced satisfactorily
• Members should confirm a willingness to serve as 

a Volunteer to the Board or Committees.
• Members standing for re-election should have 

displayed good attendance record and made 
contribution at the meetings held in prior period.

• Review of member’s utilization of the services.
• Members standing for re-election and those to 

be nominated must complete the Fit and Proper 
Exercise.

The Committee presents below the slate of members 
nominated for the Board of Directors, the Credit 
Committee and the Supervisory Committee.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS  
Article VIII Rule 33(i)

“The business of the Society shall be conducted by a 
Board of Directors which shall be elected at the Annual 
General Meeting of the society and shall consist of not less 
than five (5) members, all of who shall be members of the 
society and eighteen years of age and over, provided that 
the number of members comprising the Board of Directors 
shall at all times be an uneven number. Each member shall 
be eligible for re-election.”

RETIRING RECOMMENDED
TERM IN 
OFFICE

Mr Joscelyn Jolly Mr Joscelyn Jolly  OD
Assistant General 
Manager
West Indies Pulp & 
Paper
6A Ashenheim Road
Kingston 10

2 Years

Mr Christopher 
Robinson

Mr Christopher 
Robinson
General Manager
CUNA Mutual 
Insurance Society
2A Manhattan Road
Kingston 5

2 Years

Dr Karen Asher 
Osbourne

Dr Karen Asher 
Osbourne
Consultant Anesthetist
Portmore Healthcare 
Complex
10 Henderson Drive
Gregory Park P.O.
St Catherine

2 Years

Mr Michael Martin Mr Al Chambers
Managing Director
Tyre Sales Ltd
Goodyear Distribution 
Centre
230 Spanish Town 
Road
Kingston 11

2 Years

Mrs Debbie-Ann 
Gordon Crawford*

Mrs Debbie-Ann 
Gordon Crawford
Attorney-at-Law
Debbie-Ann Gordon & 
Associates
Attorneys-at-Law
Scotiabank Centre
Duke & Port Royal 
Streets
Kingston

2 Years

* Mrs Debbie-Ann Gordon Crawford joined the Board in       
 2005 following the resignation of  Mr Hugh Jones.
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CREDIT COMMITTEE
Article IX Rule 41(i)

“The Credit Committee shall be elected at the Annual 
General Meeting of the society and shall consist of not less 
than three (3) members, all of who shall be members of 
the society and age eighteen years or over. Each member 
shall hold office until his successor is elected and shall be 
eligible for re-election.”

RETIRING RECOMMENDED
TERM IN 
OFFICE

Ms Calys Wiltshire Ms Calys Wiltshire
Attorney-at-Law
Apt. #23 - Patrick Manor
57 – 59 Patrick Drive
Kingston 20

2 Years

Mrs Carol 
Williams

Mrs Carol Williams
Blood Donor Organizer
The Blood Bank
29 Slipe Pen Road
Kingston 5

2 Years

Mr Al Chambers Mr Irwin Errol Gregory
Lecturer
University of Technology Ja.
237 Old Hope Road
Kingston 6

2 Years

SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE
Article X Rule 48(i) (ii) (iii)

“The Supervisory Committee shall consist of not less than 
three members, none of whom shall be members of the 
Board of Directors or Credit Committee, and all of whom 
shall be members of the society.”

“Members of the Committee shall be elected, for one year 
only at each Annual General Meeting. They shall hold 
office until their successors are elected and shall be eligible 
for re-election”.

“In the event of a vacancy in the membership of the 
Committee, the remaining members of the committee shall 
fill such vacancy by appointing a member who shall hold 
office only until the next Annual General Meeting”.

Nominating Committee recommends that the Supervisory 
Committee be increased from seven to nine given the 
expanded growth of the organization and the critical role 
of the committee.

RETIRING RECOMMENDED
TERM IN 
OFFICE

Mrs Jacqueline 
Daley

Mrs Jacqueline Daley
Accounts Executive
CVM TV
69 Constant Spring Road
Kingston 10

1 Year

Mrs Marcia Detry 
Fogah

Mrs Marcia Detry Fogah
Vice Principal
Jessie Ripolll Primary School
26 South Camp Road
Kingston 4

1 Year

Deputy  
Commandant
James Golding

Deputy Commandant James 
Golding
Island Special Constabulary 
Force
Harman Barracks
Kingston 4

1 Year

Mrs Kay Anderson Mrs Kay Anderson
Vice Principal
The Mico College
19 Marescaux Road
Kingston 5

1 Year

Mr Clive Medwynter Mr Clive Medwynter
Managing Director
Paradigm Pioneers Inc.
4 East Avenue
Kingston 5

1 Year

Mrs Myrna Watts Mrs Myrna Watts
Tax Consultant
22 Cactus Way
Kingston 6

1 Year

Ms Dianne 
McIntosh

Ms Dianne McIntosh
Social Worker
23 Grovedale Drive
Kingston 10

1 Year

Ms Herma Walker Ms Herma Walker
Senior Internal Auditor
National Water Commission
231ª Old Hope Road
Kingston 6

1 year

Mrs Debbie-Ann 
Gordon Crawford*

Mr Franklin Moodie
Information Systems 
Manager
Mainland International Ltd
8 March Pen Road
St Catherine

1 Year

* Mrs Debbie-Ann Gordon Crawford resigned from the      
 Supervisory Committee to join the Board of Directors.
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JAMAICA CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT 
UNION LEAGUE - DELEGATES

RETIRING RECOMMENDED TERM IN 
OFFICE

Delegates

Mrs Brenda Cuthbert Mrs Brenda Cuthbert 1  Year

Mr Michael Martin Mr Michael Martin 1  Year

Alternate Delegates

Mr Joscelyn Jolly Mr Joscelyn Jolly 1  Year

Ms Carol Anglin Ms Carol Anglin 1  Year

JAMAICA FISHERMEN’S 
CO-OPERATIVE UNION 
- DELEGATES

RETIRING RECOMMENDED
TERM IN 
OFFICE

Mr Albert Morris Mr Albert Morris 1  Year

Mr Neville Rhone Mr Neville Rhone 1  Year

Mrs Brenda Cuthbert Mrs Brenda Cuthbert 1  Year

The Nominating Committee wishes to place on record 
its gratitude for the opportunity to serve this organization 
– COK Co-operative Credit Union.

Mr Albert Morris
For & on behalf of the Nominating Committee
Mr Albert Morris
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DELEGATES REPORT
of the Annual General Meeting of the 

Jamaica Co-operative Credit Union League
held June 4, 2005 at the Hilton Hotel

The 64th Annual General Meeting was a one day event 
which had over 200 persons as delegates and observers.   
In the Board report, President Christopher Samuda 
highlighted the performance of the League as well as that 
of the credit union movement.

Two new members were elected to the Board of 
Directors:

• Ms Carol Anglin  -  a Director of COK Co-operative 
Credit Union

• Mr Robert Chennis  -  a Director of Manchester Co-
operative Credit Union

The Supervisory Committee had one new elected 
member:

• Mr Isaiah Damdar  -  a Director of AAMM 
 Co-operative Credit Union

Tokens of appreciation were presented to retiring 
volunteers:

• Mr Joscelyn Jolly for 14 years as a Director and
 former President with the JCCUL
• Mr Raphael Walker for 5 years service with the
 supervisory Committee of the JCCUL
• Rev. Dr. Paul Gardener for 3 years as a Director of
 JCCUL

Amendments through resolutions to Rules 69 and 
15 were duly carried:

• Rule 69  Sections   (1), (2a c d e j), (4) & (5)  
 - Supervisory Committee
• Rule 15  Sections    (4),  (5),  (9) & (10)            
 - Liquidity reserve requirement

Awards were presented:

Credit Union of the Year
Category 1  -  Assets over $500 million.   
The Renford Douglas Trophy - AAMM Co-operative 
Credit Union 

Runner-up in Category 1  -  JTA Co-operative Credit 
Union

Category 2   -   Assets between $250 million - $500 
million.  

The Paul Thompson Trophy - Grace Kennedy 
Employees Co-operative Credit Union

Runner-up in Category  2  -  NCB Employees Co-
operative Credit Union

Category 3  -  Assets below $250 million.  
The Fr. John Sullivan Trophy - Petroleum Industry 
Employees Co-operative Credit Union

Runner-up in Category 3  -  Postal Co-operative Credit 
Union

Six sectional prizes were awarded.

Most Outstanding Parish Credit Union  -  Manchester 
Co-operative Credit Union

Most Improved Net Capital/Asset Ratio  -  Clarendon 
Co-operative Credit Union

Highest Asset Growth  -  BJ Staff Co-operative Credit 
Union

Most Improved Solvency  -  JDF Co-operative Credit 
Union

Parish Credit Union with Highest Return on Assets  
-  Manchester Co-operative Credit Union

Parish Credit Union with Highest Loan Growth  -  
COK Co-operative Credit Union

The Executive Committee of the Board of Directors 
of JCCUL 2005-2006

President - Mr Christopher Samuda
1st Vice President - Ms Yvonne Ridguard
2nd Vice President - Mr Johnathan Brown
Treasurer - Mr Anthony Young
Assistant Treasurer - Mr Ian McNaughton
Secretary - Mr Clinton Pickering
Assistant Secretary - Ms Natalie Sparkes

Brenda Cuthbert  (Mrs)
Delegate
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STAFF

Back (L-R): Anthony Morris (Internal Auditor), Leroy Stewart (Branch Manager- Portmore), Norman Alleyne 
(Branch Manager - Half-Way-Tree), Dennis Hickey (Marketing & Public Relations Manager), Sean Cousins 
(Financial Services Manager), Cleon Haughton (Processing Manager), Patricia Walker (Debt Recovery 
Manager), 

Middle (L-R): Shaun Barrett (MIS Manager), Gaye Ingram-Williams (Accounting Manager), Indera Persaud (Legal 
Advisor), Sonia Marsh (HRD & Administration Manager), Michelle Morris (Deputy General Manager - Finance 
& Investments), Ewan Shaw (Branch Manager - Cross Roads), Catherine Thomas (Cambio and  Remittance 
Manager), 

Front: Brenda Cuthbert (General Manager)

Missing: Adele Merritt-Bernard (Records Manager), Sharon Carey (Branch Manager - Montego Bay).

COK MANAGERS
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GENERAL MANAGER’S 
OFFICE

STAFF

(L-R): Sharon Hutchinson (Heart Trainee), 
Vivienne Thompson (Executive Administrator), 
Brenda Cuthbert (General Manager)

HUMAN RESOURCE AND ADMINISTRATION DEPARTMENT
Standing (L-R): Andrew Fender (Property & Maintenance Officer), Sadea Johnson (Heart Trainee), Rexona Christie (Administrative 
Assistant), Dawn Gardener-Rose (HR Officer), Marcia Marshall (Office Attendant), Robert Stephenson (Temporary Caretaker), Debrette 
Brown (Heart Trainee), Stephen Wallder (Training Co-ordinator)

Seated (L-R): Richard Maye (Temporary Caretaker), Sonia Marsh (HRD & Admin Manager), N. Barbara McKenzie (Executive 
Secretary)

Missing: Robert Reid (Caretaker), Emeline Henry (Snr. Officer Attendant), Lloyd Clarke (Bearer)
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STAFF

FINANCIAL SERVICES 
DEPARTMENT

Standing (L-R): Larrian Bryan (Financial Services 
Officer), Jillian Evans (Wealth Officer), Lisa 
Batchelor (Financial Services Officer), Wainwright 
Campbell (Heart Trainee), Trisha Williams 
(Financial Services Officer)

Seated: Sean Cousins (Treasury and Financial 
Services Manager)

Missing: Peta-Gaye Poyser (Heart Trainee)

 MARKETING DEPARTMENT
(L-R): Dennis Hickey (Marketing & Public Relations Manager), Vanneth Kirlew (Secretary), Valda Gordon (Heart Trainee), Klao Bell-
Lewis (Public Relations Specialist), Joan Davidson (Marketing Officer), Vivienne Bayley-Hay (Research & Development Specialist), Juliet 
Henry (Marketing Officer), Yanique Henry (Heart Trainee), Audia Hoo (Marketing Officer)

Missing: Nicholas Clarke (Marketing Officer) and Keri-Ann Brandon (Marketing Officer)
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STAFF

MIS DEPARTMENT
Standing (L-R): Claudette Myrie (Systems 
Implementation Administrator), Andre Lawrence 
(Systems Programmer), Kara Smith (Heart 
Trainee), La Vern Martin (Jr. Programmer)

Seated: Shaun Barrett (MIS Manager)

Missing: Oneil Morgan (Systems Administrator), 
Omar Morgan (Computer Technician), Andre 
Stevens (Systems Administrator)

DEBT RECOVERY DEPARTMENT
Standing (L-R): Lorna Richie (Secretary), Roger Bowen (Supervisor), Valerie Valentine (Debt 
Recovery Officer), Alana Lewis (Heart Trainee), Andrew Graham (Heart Trainee), Shernell 
Simms (Debt Recovery Officer), Paul Dennis (Debt Recovery Officer), Karlene Brown (Debt 
Recovery Officer), Nadine Matthews (Clerk), Venese White (Temporary Employee), 

Seated: Patricia Walker (Debt Recovery Manager)

Missing: Ralston Muir (Debt Recovery Officer), Othneil Bailey (Debt Recovery Officer), Opal 
Wallace (Debt Recovery Officer)
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INTERNAL AUDIT
DEPARTMENT

Standing: (L-R): Ryan Chung (Audit Officer), 
Alderine Jackson (Audit Officer), Nateisha 
McDonald (Audit Clerk), Hughan McCleary 
(Snr. Audit Officer)

Seated: Anthony Morris (Internal Auditor)

STAFF

 PROCESSING DEPARTMENT
Standing (L-R): Dwight Coburn (Temporary Employee), Kherena Edwards (Temporary Employee), Famar Edwards (Temporary 
Employee), John Graham (Processing Officer), Dionne Johnson-Roberts (Snr. Processing Officer), Nickeisha Carter (Processing Clerk), 
Peter Downey (Snr. Processing Officer), Antoinette Lynch (Administrative Assistant), Ricardo Shirley (Processing Officer), Tricia Laylor 
(Temporary Employee), Clive Thompson (Processing Officer)

Seated (L-R): Kerine Brown (Processing Clerk), Cleon Haughton (Processing Manager), Olga Munroe (Site & Services Manager), Mary 
McLaren (Processing Officer)

Missing: Ewan Walters (Processing Officer)
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STAFF

 ACCOUNTS DEPARTMENT

Standing (L-R): Ronald Gordon (Snr. Accounting Officer), Ewart Patterson (Accounting Clerk), Michael Forrester (Accounting 
Officer), Septon Beckford (Accounting Officer), Lavern Barham (Accountant), Donovan Reid (Accounting Officer), Marlene 
Williams (Snr. Accounting Officer), Haleem Anderson (Accounting Clerk), Sheldon Pinnock (Temporary Employee)

Seated (L-R): Angele Cornwall (Heart Trainee), ShounaLee Turner (Temporary Employee), Heather Wong (Executive 
Secretary), Althea Dacosta (Accounting Clerk), Gaye Ingram-Williams (Accounting Manager), Michelle Morris (DGM Finance 
and Investment)

Missing: Lisa Haynes (Accounting Officer), Charlene Campbell (Proof Officer), Patricia Edwards (Accounting Clerk)
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STAFF

Standing (L-R): Dean Nelson (Heart Trainee), 
Althea White (Temporary Employee), Kevin 
Graham (Temporary Employee), Bethune 
Atkins (Temporary Employee), Dwayne Smith 
(Temporary Employee), Damion Christie 
(Temporary Employee)

Seated (L-R): Paul Brisett (Temporary Employee), 
Rosemarie Laidlaw (Records Co-ordinator), 
Tasha Brown (Temporary Employee)

Inset: Adele Merritt-Bernard (Records Manager)

RECORDS 
MANAGEMENT 
DEPARTMENT

LEGAL DEPARTMENT
Standing (L-R): Karlene Powell (Legal Typist), Wayne Phillips (Securities Registrar), Keneisha Goulborne (Temporary Employee), 
Suzette Donaldson (Legal Clerk), Mauvalee Robinson (Legal Clerk), Mark Escoffery (Paralegal), Suisj’aila Wilson (Heart Trainee), 
Michelle Messias (Secretary), Sashana Beckford (Temporary Employee), Kay-Ann Howell (Heart Trainee), Winsome Whylie 
(Paralegal), Livingston Newman (Clerk)

Seated (L-R): Indera Persaud (Legal Advisor, Manager), Kadian Creary (Delinquency Clerk)

Missing: Shanika Bryan (Heart Trainee), Kemar Ferguson (Temporary Employee)
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STAFF

Standing (L-R): Neil Passley (Jr. Foreign 
Exchange Trader), Aneisha Alexander 
(Temporary Employee), Christopher 
Grant (Remittance Clerk), Antonette 
Samuels (Remittance Officer), Nicardo 
Clarke (Heart Trainee)

Seated (L-R): Ernest Gordon (Snr. Foreign 
Exchange Trader), Catherine Thomas 
(Cambio & Remittance Manager)

CAMBIO AND
REMITTANCE 
DEPARTMENT

MEMBER SERVICES DEPARTMENT - CROSS ROADS BRANCH
Standing (L-R): Sophia Litchmore-Wilson (MSO), Marcia Anderson (MSO), Morris Livingston (Assistant Branch Manager), Taise Hill 
(MSO), Oral Sewell (MSO), Nickeisha Lawrence (Heart Trainee), Frederick Nugent (MSO), Karen Ffrench (Secretary)

Seated: Renee Burgess (Heart Trainee), Sheryl Gordon (MSO), Sanden Francis (MSO), Monique McBean (MSO)

Missing:  Ewan Shaw (Branch Manager), Claudette McPherson (MSO), Shantell Josephs (Heart Trainee)



90

STAFF

CALL CENTRE

Standing (L-R): Dennis Hickey (Marketing & Public Relations Manager), Tracy Hutchinson (Member Service Representative), 
Trishelle Barrett (Member Service Representative), Ricardo Bryan (Member Service Representative), Rochelle Pitt (Member Service 
Representative), Paul Lyn (Member Service Representative)

Seated (L-R): Samantha Burke (Member Service Representative), Nicole Smith (Member Service Representative), Selvina Waite 
(Call Centre Supervisor), Tanyshe Rhoden (Member Service Representative)

Missing: Shaneek Carey (Member Service Representative), Gillian Gordon (Member Service Representative)

TELLERS – CROSS ROADS
Standing (L-R): Morris Livingston (Assistant Branch Manager), Camille Adams (Temporary Teller), Veronique Pitter (Temporary 
Teller), Clayton Bailey (Teller), Renee Rattray (Temporary Teller), Tashania Richards (Temporary Teller), Kadian McDonald 
(Temporary Teller), Bibi Cox (Teller), Sonyka Cripps (Temporary Teller)

Seated (L-R): Stacy-ann Anderson (Temporary Teller), Nkachi Reeves (Teller), Patricia Jones (Teller Supervisor), Theresa Jones 
(Teller) 

Missing: Sharna Meredith-Ramsay (Teller), Ewan Shaw (Branch Manager)
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STAFF

HALF-WAY-TREE BRANCH
Standing Back-row (L-R): Delroy Graham (Assistant Branch Manager), Lidice Ferguson (Teller), Troy Powell (MSO), Kevin Wolfe 
(Satellite Clerk), Jacqueline Bailey (Teller Supervisor), Shoshana Johnson (Temporary Staff) 

Standing Second-row (L-R): Denise Stewart (Trainee), Sharlene Menzie (Trainee), Norman Alleyne (Branch Manager), Keri-Ann 
Bra�
(Senior Teller), Annette Keyes (Administrative Secretary), Shekera Powell (Heart Trainee)

Seated (L-R): Latoya Scott (Temporary Staff), Khalilah McKellar (Teller), Ramona Brown (MSO), Karen Maylor-Graham (MSO), 
Kimberly Swaby (Temporary Staff)

Standing (L-R): Everton Simpson (Temporary Teller), Nadene Comrie (Temporary MSO), Leon Bennett (Temporary Teller), 
Chevar Beecher (Temporary Processing Clerk), Paul Taylor (Teller), Joy Chisholm (Assistant Branch Manager), Taffera 
Grindley (Teller), Tina Richards (Teller Supervisor), Leroy Stewart (Branch Manager)

Seated (L-R): Camian Williams (Temporary Clerk/Typist), Shellika Duncan (Teller), Nadia Mein (Teller), Nadine Chin 
(Processing Officer)

Missing: Sherita Elliott (MSO), Kathryn Knight (Temporary Clerk)

PORTMORE BRANCH
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STAFF

MONTEGO BAY BRANCH
Standing (L-R): Khalfani Stoddart-Kerr (Heart Trainee), Alvin Campbell (MSO), Veronica Brown (Processing 
Officer), Andrea Allen-Taylor (Marketing Officer), Sharon Carey (Branch Manager), Tona-Lei Lawrence (Heart 
Trainee), Roger Shippey (MSO) 

Seated (L-R): Alecia Wynter (Teller), Tianna Barran (Teller), Melodean Cousley (Secretary) 

Missing: Diana Leach-Patterson (Assistant Branch Manager)
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Hugh Anthony Jones

WE THANK...

Mr. Jones served on both the 
Supervisory and Credit committees 
for ten years before ascending to the 
Board in 2005. Though brief, his ability 
to support the Board in the face of the 
sudden passing of Director Barrington 
Robinson, helped maintain stability 
and continuity during a time of critical 
transition. 

Leroy Reynolds
Deputy General Manager 

– Operations
 

Leroy Reynolds was the face behind the implementation of many of COK’s 
innovative products and services. He drove the technological advancement 
that set COK apart from other financial institutions.

Mr. Reynolds’ professional accomplishments within the past ten years 
include designing and modifying many of COK’s financial loans and saving 
products, formulating annual business plans as well as co-ordinating and 
managing the development of a new financial system written in Oracle.

Mr. Reynolds resigned in August 2005 in order to go abroad to pursue a 
PhD in Organisational Management. While his presence and ongoing input 
have been missed, his work, and contributions have continued to redound 
positively on our operations.
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OBITUARIES
Below is a list of deceased members for whom death claims were made during 
2005.  Our condolence goes out to these members’ families and to all who 
have lost loved ones during the year.

1. SHARON LAWRENCE
2. ANTONIO ANDERSON
3. NADINE ROBERTS
4. RUDDIARD JAMES
5. SANDRA WILLIAMS
6. CORNELL BRUCE
7. DENNIS COORE
8. DERRICK PHILLIPS
9. WAYNE SHEIKS
10. ORVILLE FAGAN
11. PATRICIA PERRY
12. MICHELLE PALMER
13. JAMES LAND
14. COREY GORDON
15. RONALD MALCOLM
16. SYBIL PARKER
17. DAHLIA SIMPSON
18. CLEMENT MCPHERSON
19. KENTON HARRIOTT
20. BERYL GIBBS
21. ROBBY HENRY
22. MARLOO VIRGO
23. SEAN MCGHIE
24. LEORNADO GOODHALL
25. RUDOLPH CRANSTON
26. WOODROW BROWN
27. MELBOURNE NUGENT
28. MARCIA WHYTE
29. IVYLIN COLEY
30. DERMOT WALKER
31. GEORGIA BERNARD
32. MICHAEL FRANCIS
33. RONALD REYNOLDS
34. DONNA ISAACS-GOFFE
35. CARLTON MCGANN
36. EVERALD THOMAS
37. MAVIS MCDONALD
38. LINDA MCDONALD
39. LEONARD WALTON
40. ONEIL GRAY
41. CECIL VASSELL
42. GEORGE EWART
43. DOTSY MYERS
44. LOIS CREIGHTON
45. FLOYD STEPHENS

46. CAROL LEVY
47. CHRISTOPHER FAIRWEATHER
48. LESMA DIXON
49. NORMA CAMPBELL
50. PAULINE GLENN
51. ERROL PRYCE
52. DENVERT COPELAND
53. EUGENIE DUNKLEY
54. VICTORIA WILLIS
55. ROY HYLTON
56. DERYCK WILSON
57. SHARON THOMPSON
58. NORMA BROOKS
59. MITSY TAYLOR
60. LORIS GORDON
61. MICHAEL HARDING
62. GREGORY SMITH
63. ORLANDO FOLKES
64. MICHAEL HEWIE
65. JAMES WILLIAMS
66. PRINCE NGYOU
67. IAN POUNALL
68. DELROY GAYLE
69. LLOYD MCDONALD
70. WILLIAM FLETCHER
71. HOWARD JOHNSON
72. RANDOLPH TURNER
73. BEVERLEY BROWN
74. WALFORD DARLING
75. RICHARD OXFORD
76. PIXLEY HENRY
77. CHARMAINE SANCHEZ
78. HEATHER RIETTIE
79. ALPHANSO ENGLISH
80. SANDRA CAMPBELL
81. BRUCE JACQUES
82. GRETHEL WILSON
83. GLADSTON WILKINS
84. REYNARD WEBB
85. WARREN PRESTWIDGE
86. BASIL JOHNSON
87. JOHN TAYLOR
88. MILLICENT POWELL-REID
89. SONIA WATSON 
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INTEREST RATE CEILING
Regulation 40 (2) (a) of the Co-operative Societies 
Act requires that an interest rate ceiling on loans be 
stated.  City of Kingston Co-operative Credit Union 
Limited (COK) participates in a number of externally 
funded lending programmes.  The interest rate on 
these loans is determined by the cost of these funds.  
It is therefore necessary for the ceiling set in Rule 27 
of our Rule Book to make provision for these external 
programmes.  Additionally, COK makes special loans 
(premium financing, demand loans, interim financing) 
from the pool of Special Deposits.  Paying attractive 
rates of interest promotes these deposits, and the 
interest rates on these ‘special loans’ are determined by 
the cost of deposit funds.

The following interest rate regime will apply:

LOAN TYPE RATE CEILING
1 Regular loans based on  1.66 – 2.09% per month
 share qualification. on the reducing balance.

2 Special Loans/ 2.33% per month on the  
 Externally Funded reducing balance.

3 Car Loan Programme 1.67 – 1.83% per month  
   on the reducing balance

4  a) Education Loan Programme
 b) Home Improvement
 c) Business 1.66 – 2.09% per month  
   on the reducing balance

5 Loans Within Shares 1.33% per month on the  
   reducing balance.

6 Loans Secured by COK  1.5 – 1.92% per month
 Investment instrument  on the reducing balance.

7 Insurance Premium  2.5% per month on the 
 Financing reducing balance.
                         

LOAN POLICY

BORROWING CONDITIONS

A. PURPOSE

A1. Loans shall be made for provident and productive 
purposes and in accordance with the rules of the 
Credit Union.

A2.  Loans shall not be made for down payment on 
hire purchase.

A3. Refinancing of mortgage loans will be considered 
in the following circumstances:

 i) Current mortgage has a final default notice.
 ii) Member can show that changed circumstances  

 weakened the family income and placed the  
 property in jeopardy.

B. QUALIFICATIONS

B1. Members who have saved regularly with the 
Credit Union shall be eligible for loans.

B2. Waiting period for new members has been 
waived. 

B3. Fixed deposits shall not be used for loan 
qualification

B4. Loans for appliances shall be at loans to shares 
ratio of 10:1.

B5. Members who are temporarily employed with no 
other source of income may borrow:

 i) Within their shares
 ii) Above their shares if the loan is guaranteed by  

 a third party.

B6. A job/income verification letter must be furnished 
for all loans.  The last two pay slips may be 
accepted where exposure is less than $3,000.00.

B7. For loan types #1 and #4 Share Building Loan 
and Deferred Share Qualification Loan exist.

 Share Building Loan – partial shares requirement 
fulfillment is made from funds disbursed.
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 Deferred Share Qualification Loan (DSQ) 
– the member will agree to lodge to his/her share 
account within a specified time, the shortfall in the 
share requirement.

B8. Maximum deferred shares qualification or Share 
Building amount is five (5) times the existing 
shares or $500,000.00, whichever is less.

B9.  Minimum shares for Share Building Loan is 
$10,000.00 or minimum coverage shares, 
whichever is more.

B10. Maximum amount to be disbursed under Share 
Building Loan is $5,000,000.00.

B11. i) An amount equal to 10% of the loan repayment     
shall be contributed to savings each month.

       ii)  For loans with conditions B11, an amount 
equal to 15% of loan repayment shall be 
contributed to savings each month.

C. SECURITY

C1.  Where co-making is offered as security, the co-
maker must have ‘free’ shares, which can be 
hypothecated.

C2.   All items offered as security must be fully insured.

C3.   Security against household appliances will be 
limited to a maximum of $8,000.00 based on the 
appraised value.

C4. Property Valuation:
 i) Up to $5M - 75% of valuation.
 ii) $5.1M to $9.9M – 70% of valuation
 iii) $10M to $15M – 65% of valuation.
 iv) Over $15M – 60% of valuation

D.  APPROVAL

D1. Approval Limits:
 • Loans up to $100,000 – Processing Officers
 • Loans up to $200,000 – Senior Processing    

    Officer
 • Loans up to $300,000 – Assistant Branch       

    Manager
 • Loans up to $500,000  –  Processing Manager  

    and Branch Managers
 •  Loans $500,000 –    Processing   Manager,
    - $1,500,000    General Manager and  

    Deputy General   
    Manager

 • Loans over $1,500,000  –   Processing Manager,
    - $2,000,000   General Manager,
       Deputy General
          Manager and Credit 
          Committee.
 • Loans over $2,000,000  –   Processing Manager,
    - $5,000,000   General Manager,
       Deputy General
          Manager and Joint
          Committee and   

    Board Representative.
 • Loans over $5,000,000  –  Processing Manager,
       General Manager, 
       Deputy General       

    Manager, Joint   
    Committee and   
    Board. 

E.   LOAN TERM

E1.  Maximum repayment period for loans shall not 
exceed ten years.

E2.  Rate variance of ±3% can be applied to base 
interest rates.

 Conditions Apply
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